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1Q EQ Fund Management
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Trustee Services Ireland
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2024 11
2025
11,342,874 98.47
176,673 1.53
11,519,548
1,668 100.00
2025
2025
2025
Deutsche Bank
2034 Croci Sectors
11,435,406 12 11,342,874 111 USD Total 98.47
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2025

2025 7,908,685 1,145,257 9.815 1,421
2024 6,738,537 975,808 10.162 1,472
7,925,925 1,147,753 10.554 1,528

9,686,811 1,402,747 10.510 1,522

10 9,392,637 1,360,148 10.051 1,455

11 8,621,662 1,248,503 10.075 1,459

12 7,935,385 1,149,123 9.420 1,364

2025 7,816,039 1,131,841 9.617 1,393
7,908,685 1,145,257 9.815 1,421

7,881,983 1,141,390 9.864 1,428

7,425,471 1,075,282 9.645 1,397

7,282,960 1,054,645 9.445 1,368

7,376,664 1,068,215 9.510 1,377
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2025 619,429,261 939
2024 705,754,113 1,004
721,884,638 1,037
711,593,789 1,029
10 675,677,925 978
11 693,228,055 977
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Ortu Curva Trust Il Sector Focused Global Equity Fund Annual Report and Audited
Financial Statements 2025

STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
As of 28 February 2025

Ortu Curva Trust |1 Sector
Focused Global Equity Fund

As of 28 February 2025

Assets: Notes

Investments in financial derivative instruments 8,9 % 12,491,680

Cash and cash equivalents 10 12,334,796

Receivable for subscriptions 19,104

Prepaid expenses and other assets 287,736
Total assets 25,133,316

Liabilities:

Investments in financial derivative instruments 8, 9 46,500
Collateral due to broker 12,094,953
Payable to Manager 5 2,884
Dividends and interest payable 8,626
Payable for unsettled foreign cash transactions 6,835
Payable for swap contracts 196,577
Tax Payable 2 4,370
Other accrued expenses 5 20,384

Total liabilities 12,381,129
Net assets $ 12,752,187

Signed on behal T of the Manager of the Trust on 12 August 2025

Paul 0"Shea Paul Giblin

Date of launch - 11 June 2024
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Ortu Curva Trust 1l Sector Focused Global Equity Fund Annual Report and Audited
Financial Statements 2025

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
For the financial period from date of authorisation 2 May 2024 to 28 February 2025

Ortu Curva Trust Il Sector
Focused Global Equity Fund
Financial period ended

28 February 2025

Investment income: Notes
Other income $ 1,152
Total investment income 1,152
Expenses:
Manager fees 5 33,273
Administration fees 5 52,741
Agent Company Fees 5 3,937
Audit fees 5 44,829
Depositary fees 5 1,973
Legal fees 5 6,651
Tax expenses 2,5 74,632
Other expenses 5 189,585
Total expenses 407,621
Net expenses 407,621
Net investment income $ (406,469)
Realised and unrealised (loss)/gain on investments
Net realised (loss)/gain on:
Foreign currency transactions and forward foreign
currency contracts $ (1,406)
Swap contracts 13,464
Net change in unrealised
(depreciation)/appreciation on:
Foreign currency transactions and forward foreign
currency contracts (46,616)
Swap contracts 28,537
Net realised and unrealised (loss) on investments (6,021)
Net (decrease) in net assets resulting from operations 3 (412,490)

For the financial period ended 28 February 2025, there are no other gains or losses other than those
included in the Statements of Operations. All income arises from continuing operations.

Signed on behal T of the Manager of the Trust on 12 August 2025

Paul 0"Shea Paul Giblin

Date of launch - 11 June 2024
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Ortu Curva Trust 1l Sector Focused Global Equity Fund
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Annual Report and Audited
Financial Statements 2025

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
For the financial period from date of authorisation 2 May 2024 to 28 February 2025

Operations:
Net investment income

Net realised gain on investments, foreign currency
transactions and forward foreign currency contracts

Net change in unrealised (depreciation) on investments,
foreign currency transactions and forward foreign
currency contracts

Net (decrease) in net assets resulting from operations

Capital Share Transactions:
Proceeds from shares sold
USD Unit Class
JPY Hedged Unit Class
AUD Hedged Unit Class
Cost of shares redeemed
USD Unit Class
JPY Hedged Unit Class
AUD Hedged Unit Class
Net increase in net assets from share transactions

Total increase in net assets

Net assets: Beginning of financial period
Net assets: End of financial period

Date of launch - 11 June 2024

Ortu Curva Trust Il Sector
Focused Global Equity Fund
Financial period ended

28 February 2025

Notes
$ (406,469)

12,058

(18,079)
(412,490)

$ 9,954,517
5,388,019
793,650

$ (1,765,606)
(1,199,800)

(6,103)

13,164,677

12,752,187

$ 12,752,187

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Ortu Curva Trust 1l Sector Focused Global Equity Fund Annual Report and Audited
Financial Statements 2025

ORTU CURVA TRUST Il SECTOR FOCUSED GLOBAL EQUITY FUND
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
For units outstanding during the financial period from date of authorisation
2 May 2024 to 28 February 2025

USD Unit Class JPY Hedged Unit AUD Hedged Unit

Class Class
Financial period End 28 February 2025 28 February 2025 28 February 2025
Net Asset Value Beginning of Financial period $ 10.00 JPY  1,000.00 AUD 10.00
Net Investment Income™ (0.30) (8.90) (0.26)
Net Realised and Unrealised Gain/(Loss) on Investments 0.16 (52.21) (0.02)
Total from Investment Operations (0.18) (61.11) (0.28)
Net Asset Value End of Financial period $ 9.82 JPY 938.89 AUD 9.72
Total Return™ (1.80)% (6.11)% (2.80)%
Net Asset Value End of Financial period $ 7,921,213 JPY619,449,679 AUD 1,158,408
Ratio of Expenses to Average Net Assets™ 3.40% 0.94% 2.60%
Ratio of Net Investment Income to Average Net Assets™™ (3.39)% (0.91)% (2.59)%

*

Calculated based on average units outstanding during the period from 12 June 2024 (date of the first
NAV) to 28 February 2025.

Not annualised for period less than one year.

Annualised for period less than one year, except for professional expense, audit expense and certain
other expenses, if applicable.

Fk

FokKk

Date of launch - 11 June 2024
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Ortu Curva Trust 1l Sector Focused Global Equity Fund Annual Report and Audited
Financial Statements 2025

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial period from date of authorisation 2 May 2024 to February 28, 2025

1. Organisation

Ortu Curva Il Trust (the ““Trust®?), a unit trust established in Ireland on 2 May 2024 under the
Unit Trusts Act 1990 under registration number C535962 and the AIF Rulebook issued by Central
Bank (the ““AlF Rulebook””). The Trust is structured as an umbrella fund and may comprise several
funds each representing a separate fund or portfolio of assets. The Units of the Trust may also
be divided into different Classes with one or more Classes of Units representing a fund.

The Trust is authorised by the Central Bank of Ireland (the ““Central Bank”?) as a unit trust
pursuant to the Unit Trusts Act 1990. The Central Bank shall not be liable by virtue of its
authorisation of the Trust or by reason of its exercise of the functions conferred on it by
legislation in relation to the Trust for any default of the Trust. Authorisation of the Trust by
the Central Bank does not constitute a warranty by the Central Bank as to the creditworthiness or
financial standing of the various parties to the scheme, nor is the Central Bank responsible for
the contents of the prospectus. Such authorisation does not constitute an endorsement or
guarantee of the Trust by the Central Bank.

The Trust has appointed 1Q EQ Fund Management (lreland) Limited (the "Manager™) as its
Alternative Investment Fund Manager (““AIFM””) pursuant to the agreement signed on 2 May 2024
between the Trust and the AIFM (the ““AIFM Agreement””). Under the terms of the AIFM Agreement,
the AIFM is appointed to carry out the management services in respect of the Trust.

As at 28 February 2025 the Trust comprises of one sub-fund:
- Ortu Curva Trust Il Sector Focused Global Equity Fund

Ortu Curva Trust 1l Sector Focused Global Equity Fund (the ““Sub-Fund””) with registered number
C537495 is a sub-fund of Ortu Curva Il Trust, a Unit Trust with registered number C535962 and
established as an umbrella sub-fund with segregated liability between sub-funds. The manager of
the Sub-Fund who also acts as AIFM (with responsibility for portfolio management) of the Sub-Fund
is 1Q EQ Fund Management (lreland) Limited.
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Ortu Curva Trust 1l Sector Focused Global Equity Fund Annual Report and Audited
Financial Statements 2025

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the financial period from date of authorisation 2 May 2024 to 28 February 2025

1. Organisation (continued)

The investment objective of the Sub-Fund is to aim to replicate the performance of the Index (as
defined below), (or any other index determined by the Manager from time to time to track
substantially the same market as the Index). In order to achieve its investment objective, the
Sub-Fund will generally invest all of the proceeds from the issue of Units (after deducting
therefrom the costs and expenses in connection with the establishment of the Sub-Fund and the
offering of Units and a reserve for other charges and expenses payable out of the assets of the
Sub-Fund) in one or more total return swaps (each a ““Total Return Swap””) to be traded with
Deutsche Bank AG (the ““Swap Counterparty””) pursuant to a swap agreement (the "Swap Agreement').
In addition to entering into the Total Return Swap, the Sub-Fund may hold cash pending
investment, the return of monies to investors or to allow the Sub-Fund to meet certain ongoing
charges and expenses which may arise in the course of operations of the Sub-Fund. The Manager
will invest for the account of the Sub-Fund more than 50% of the total assets of the Sub-Fund in
"securities” within the meaning of the Financial Instruments and Exchange Law of Japan (Law No.25
of 1948, as amended) (““FIEL””) (such as corporate or government debt securities, commercial
paper, units of securities investment trusts and shares of mutual funds) (but excluding such
rights listed in each item of Article 2, Paragraph 2 of the FIEL as deemed to be securities) and
in derivatives relating to such securities.

Deutsche Bank CROCI® Sectors 111 USD Total Return Index (the "Index') (ticker: DBGLS3UT) is a
synthetic rules-based proprietary strategy created by Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch. The Index
is intended to reflect the performance of thirty stocks selected from three industry sectors in a
selection pool of large capitalization stocks in the United States, Europe and Japan. The
selection pool consists of (i) the 251 stocks with the largest market capitalization in the S&P
500@0 Index (the ““S&P 5007”) (and any current constituent of the Index if it is within the 271
stocks with the largest market capitalization in the S&P 500), (ii) the stocks constituting the
EURO STOXX® Large Index (the ““STOXX Large””) and (iii) the stocks constituting the TOPIX 100
Index (the ““TOPIX 1007, and, together with the S&P 500 and the STOXX Large, (the ““Reference
Indices””), in each case, excluding certain restricted stocks, the financial stocks identified in
accordance with the relevant industry classification standards and certain other stocks as
defined in the prospectus).

The Manager has classified the Sub-Fund as an Article 6 Fund pursuant to the EU Sustainable
Finance Disclosure Regulation (EU Regulation 2019/2088) (the ““SFDR””). The Sub-Fund does not
have a sustainable investment objective within the meaning of Article 8 and Article 9 of the
SFDR.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the financial period from date of authorisation 2 May 2024 to 28 February 2025

2.

Significant Accounting Policies

The following is a summary of significant accounting policies consistently followed by the Trust

in

the preparation of its financial statements. These policies are in conformity with accounting

principles generally accepted in the United States of America (““US GAAP”?).

a)

b)

d)

e)

)

Valuation of swaps - swaps contracts are valued on the basis of the recalculated market prices
by using the traditional elements of pricing, considering the value, the volatility of the
underlying, the interest rates and the residual value of the swaps contracts. Swaps contracts
at market value are recorded in the statement of assets and liabilities. Gains or losses on
open swap contracts are shown in note 10.

Distributions to Unitholders - It is not intended to declare dividends in respect of any Unit
Class of the Sub-Fund. Any distributable profits will remain in the Sub-Fund"s assets and be
reflected in the Net Asset Value of the relevant Unit Class.

Basis of preparation - The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis in conformity with US GAAP.

Use of Estimates - The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with US GAAP
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the
financial statements and accompanying notes. Management believes that the estimates utilized
in preparing its financial statements are reasonable and prudent; however, actual results
could differ from these estimates.

Income and Expenses - Dividends are recognized as income on the dates that the related
investment is first quoted “ex-dividend®™ to the extent information thereon is reasonably
available. Interest income and interest expense are recognized on an accruals basis in line
with the contractual terms. Interest is accrued on a daily basis.

Investment transactions and related income and expenses - Investment and Unitholder
transactions are recorded on trade date. The Trust determines the gain or loss realised from
the investment transactions by comparing the original cost of the security lot sold with the
net sales proceeds on a high cost basis. Within the sub-fund, dividend income is recognized on
the ex-dividend date or as soon as information is available and interest income is recognized
on an accrual basis. Income, expenses (other than expenses attributable to a specific Class),
and realised and unrealised gains or losses on investments are allocated to each class of
shares based on its respective shares outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the financial period from date of authorisation 2 May 2024 to 28 February 2025

2.

9)

h)

)

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held on
call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less and bank overdrafts. All cash at bank balances are held with Brown Brothers
Harriman & Co., or with third party institutions approved by the Trust on overnight deposit or
directly with a sub-custodian. All deposits held on call with banks are returned to the
Trustee the following day. A breakdown of the financial institutions where the cash was
deposited at the financial period end is contained in note 10.

Functional and Presentation Currency - Items included in the financial statements are measured
using the currency of the primary economic environment in which it operates (the ““Functional
Currency””). The Trust"s Functional and Presentation Currency is US Dollar.

Foreign Exchange Translations - Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies
other than the currency stated as the Trust®s Functional Currency are translated using the
closing rates of exchange at each financial period end. Transactions during the financial
period, including purchases and sales of securities, income and expenses, are translated at
the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction.

Foreign Currency Exchange Contracts - Transactions during the financial period denominated in
foreign currencies have been translated at the rates of exchange ruling at the dates of the
transactions. Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
rates of exchange ruling at the financial period end date. The results of operations due to
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates on investments from gains or losses arising from the
sales or changes in values of the portfolio securities are reported separately. Net realised
gains (losses) and net change in unrealised gains (losses) on foreign currency related
transactions arise from sales of foreign currencies and currency gains or losses between trade
date or ex-date and settlement date on security or dividend transactions.
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2.

k)

D

m)

Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Collateral - The Fund may accept collateral in the context of the Total Return Swap. Such
collateral will be of an appropriate type for the given transaction and the particular
counterparty and may be in the form of cash or debt securities issued by countries which are
members of the G7 group of countries (Canada, France, Germany, ltaly, Japan, the United
Kingdom and the United States). It will be transferred, where there is title transfer, to the
Trustee (or its delegate) for safekeeping. Where securities are received as collateral they
will be valued by the Manager in accordance with the terms of the Prospectus (applying
appropriate haircuts where the Manager determines this to be necessary or desirable) and at a
frequency determined by the Manager to be appropriate, taking into consideration the type of
collateral and the frequency of the Fund®"s Redemption Days. Collateral received pursuant to
the Total Return Swaps may be re-invested by the Sub-Fund for the purposes of investment in
cash or debt securities issued by countries which are members of the G7 group of countries
(Canada, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, the United Kingdom and the United States) and may also
invest in money market funds.

Operating Expenses - The Trust pays out of its assets all normal operating expenses including
depositary fees, administration fees, transfer agent fees, Manager fees, NAV publication and
circulation fees, audit & other professional fees, and charges incurred on the acquisition and
realisation of investments. Such costs are generally expensed in the financial period
incurred.

Transaction Costs - Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or financial liability. An incremental
cost is one that would not have been incurred if the entity had not acquired, issued or
disposed of the financial instrument. Only transaction costs which are separately identifiable
are disclosed. These include transaction costs paid to depositary and sub-custodians,
identifiable brokerage charges and commissions, identifiable transaction related taxes and
other market charges and separately identifiable transaction costs related to financial
derivative instruments. These requirements are disclosed in note 6.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the financial period from date of authorisation 2 May 2024 to 28 February 2025

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

n) Taxation - The Trust is an investment undertaking as defined in Section 739B of the Taxes
Consolidation Act, 1997, as amended. Provided the Trust continues to be resident for tax
purposes in Ireland and is authorised by the Central Bank of Ireland, the Trust should not be
chargeable to Irish tax on its relevant income or gains, other than on the occurrence of a
chargeable event. A chargeable event includes any distribution payments to Unitholders or any
encashment, redemption, cancellation or transfer of shares and the holding of shares at the
end of each eight year period beginning with the acquisition of such shares.

No Irish tax will arise for the Trust on a chargeable event in respect of:

e a Unitholder who is not an Irish resident and not ordinarily resident in Ireland for tax
purposes at the time of the chargeable event, provided the necessary signed statutory
declarations are held by the Trust and the Trust is not in possession of any information
which would reasonably suggest that the information contained therein is no longer
materially correct; or the Trust has been authorised by the Irish Revenue Commissioners to
make gross payments in the absence of appropriate declarations;

e certain exempted Irish tax resident Investors (as outlined in Section 739D of the Taxes
Consolidation Act, 1997, as amended) who have provided the Trust with the necessary signed

statutory declarations;

e an exchange of shares arising on a qualifying amalgamation or reconstruction of the Trust
with another sub-fund;

e any transactions in relation to shares held in a recognized clearing system as designated by
order of the Revenue Commissioners of lreland;

e certain exchanges of shares between spouses and former spouses on the occasion of judicial
separation and/or divorce;

e an exchange by a Unitholder, effected by way of an arm®s length bargain where no payment is
made to the Unitholder of shares in the Trust for other shares in the Trust.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the financial period from date of authorisation 2 May 2024 to 28 February 2025

2. Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Capital gains, dividends and interest (if any) received on investment made by the Trust may be
subject to withholding taxes imposed by the country from which the investment income/gains are
received and such taxes may not be recoverable by the Trust or its Unitholders.

In the absence of an appropriate declaration, the Trust will be liable for Irish tax on the
occurrence of a chargeable event, and the Trust reserves its right to withhold such taxes from
the relevant Unitholders.

ASC 740 Income Taxes established financial accounting and disclosure requirements for
recognition and measurement of tax positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return.
The Manager has reviewed the Trust"s tax positions for all open tax years and has concluded
that no provision for income tax is required in the Trust®s financial statements.

The Sub-Fund may be subject to Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS™) Section 871(m), which
imposes a 30% withholding tax on "dividend equivalent payments" in respect of certain types of
derivative instruments (including equity or total return swaps) that reference U.S. stocks.

3. Share Capital

As the minimum initial subscription to the Trust will not be less than €100,000 (or its foreign
currency equivalent), an investment in the Trust may only be made by a Qualifying Investor (and
Knowledgeable Investors). Accordingly, the Trust qualifies as a qualifying investor scheme for
the purposes of the Central Bank"s Regulations on collective investment schemes, and while the
Trust is authorised by the Central Bank, the Central Bank has not set any limits or other
restrictions on the investment objectives, the investment policies or the degree of leverage
which may be employed by the Trust, other than to stipulate that, without prejudice to the
Trust™s ability to invest through subsidiary entities, the Trust may not acquire shares carrying
voting rights which would enable it to exercise a significant influence of the management of an
issuer. The Trust may not take or seek to take legal or management control of the issuer of any
of its underlying investments. Units may not be issued or transferred to any U.S. Person. The
Directors may at their absolute discretion from time to time impose such further investment
restrictions as shall be compatible with or in the interest of the Unitholders, in order to
comply with the laws and regulations of the countries where Unitholders are located.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the financial period from date of authorisation 2 May 2024 to 28 February 2025

3. Share Capital (continued)

The investment restrictions for each sub-fund will be specified by the Manager at the time of
creation of each sub-fund and will be specified in the relevant prospectus supplement. The
investment restrictions referred to above and in the relevant Supplement are deemed to apply at
the time of purchase of the investments. If such limits are exceeded for reasons beyond the
control of the relevant sub-fund, or as a result of the exercise of subscription rights, the
relevant sub-fund will adopt, as a priority objective, the remedying of the situation, taking due
account of the interests of Unitholders.

For the Sub-Fund Ortu Curva Trust Il Sector Focused Global Equity Fund the following Unit Classes
are available for subscription.

Class De(ri(ljrg ;ﬁgi)ilon Plrniictei a:)le rO tJfrleil; ! iSnuibmsu(:mr ilpntiitoinaI " n;ﬂgch}: gi?g;ent ReMdienmipmtuimon
/Minimum Holding Amount
USD Unit Class USD USD 10.00 USODf egluoia’,%'oeont 100.00 1 Unit
g;’\gszedged Unit IPY JPY 1,000 JPOYf egluoi(;/,%loeont 10,000 1 Unit
/éLIJgS:edged Unit AUD AUD 10.00 AUon ?1u0i(;l,%loeont 100.00 1 Unit

The minimum amounts set out above may be raised, lowered or waived at the discretion of the
Directors (or their delegate) either generally or in relation to any specific subscription or
repurchase. Investors must subscribe into a Class in the currency in which that Class is
denominated. Repurchase payments are also made in the currency in which the relevant Class is
denominated. Unitholders must forward cleared settlement monies in respect of any subscription
made during the period commencing at 9 am (Tokyo time) on 27 May 2024 and ending at 6 pm (Tokyo
time) on 7 June 2024 (or such later date as the Manager may determine) (““Initial Offer Period””)
to the account details set out in the Subscription Agreement by 11 pm (Tokyo time) on 11 June
2024 or, in the event of any change in the Initial Offer Period, the second Business Day falling
after the close of the Initial Offer Period.

Following the end of the Initial Offer Period, Units in the Sub-Fund will be available for
subscription at the Net Asset Value per Unit (less any duties and charges) on the relevant
Subscription Day. Completed subscription applications should be submitted by the Subscription
Cut-Off Time in accordance with the requirements of the section headed "Continuing Offer
Application Procedure” of the Prospectus. Cleared settlement monies are required to be forwarded
by 11 pm (Tokyo time) on the third Business Day falling after the relevant Subscription Day.
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3. Share Capital (continued)

A Unitholder may submit a redemption request, in accordance with the requirements of the section
headed ““Redemptions”” of the Prospectus in respect of any Redemption Day, by submitting a
redemption request in advance of the relevant Redemption Cut-Off Time. Units will be redeemed at
the Net Asset Value per Unit of the relevant Unit Class on the relevant Redemption Day. The
aggregate redemption proceeds payable to a Unitholder will be rounded down to the nearest whole
USD0.01, in the case of the USD Unit Class, JPY 1, in the case of the JPY Unit Class and AUD
0.01, in the case of the AUD Unit Class. The benefit of any such rounding will be retained for
the account of the Sub-Fund. For the purposes of calculating the redemption price of a Unit, the
Trustee and/or the Manager may deduct from the Net Asset Value per Unit an amount which it/they
consider(s) to be an appropriate allowance to reflect fiscal and sale charges which would be
incurred for the account of the Sub-Fund in realising assets or closing out positions to provide
funds to meet redemption requests on a particular Redemption Day.

It is generally expected that redemption proceeds will be circulated to Unitholders within 5
Business Days of the relevant Redemption Day.

All remaining Units in the Sub-Fund will be compulsorily repurchased on the last Business Day of
May 2034 or such other date, including a later date, as the Manager may determine and notify to
Unitholders, being the date on which the term of the Sub-Fund expires and all remaining units are
redeemed (““Fund Maturity Date””) and the proceeds of repurchase will be sent to Unitholders
within 5 Business Days of redemption, save that if the Net Asset Value of the Sub-Fund falls
below USD 15,000,000 on a given Subscription Day, the Manager, in consultation with the Trustee,
may, at its discretion, repurchase all but not less than all of the Units of the Sub-Fund then
outstanding at the repurchase price calculated on the Expiration Date (as hereinafter defined).
However, the Manager must (i) provide four weeks" written notice of repurchase to all
Unitholders, such notice expiring on the date stated in the notice (the "Expiration Date') and
(i1) repurchase such Shares within four weeks following such Expiration Date. Unitholders shall
be notified in writing of any such repurchase.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the financial period from date of authorisation 2 May 2024 to 28 February 2025

3. Share Capital (continued)

Share transactions for the financial period ended 28 February 2025 were as follows:

Ortu Curva Trust |1 Sector
Focused Global Equity Fund

28 February 2025

USD Unit Class
Opening number of shares

Shares sold 985,673
Shares redeemed (178,656)
Closing number of shares 807,017

JPY Hedged Unit Class
Opening number of shares

Shares sold 851,387
Shares redeemed (191,616)
Closing number of shares 659,771

AUD Hedged Unit Class
Opening number of shares

Shares sold 120,160
Shares redeemed (1,002)
Closing number of shares 119,158

4. Investment Transactions

Purchases and sales of investments, excluding short-term investments, for the financial period
ended 28 February 2025 were as follows:

Sub-Fund Purchases Sales
Ortu Curva Trust 1l Sector Focused Global Equity Fund $ 15,926,590 $ 3,476,912

5. Manager and Other Agreements

The Trust has an agreement with the Manager to furnish investment advisory services to the Trust.
Under the terms of the agreement, the Manager is entitled to receive management fees in respect
of each of the sub-funds, payable out of the assets of the sub-funds, accruing daily and payable
monthly in arrears at the annual percentage rate, as set out below.

Ortu Curva Trust 1l Sector Focused Global Equity Fund Annual Report and Audited
Financial Statements 2025
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5. Manager and Other Agreements (continued)

Ortu Curva Trust 1l Sector Focused Global Equity Fund:

Manager®s fee

In respect of its provision of management services to the Sub-Fund, the Manager will receive a
management fee of 0.11% per annum of the Net Asset Value of the Sub-Fund, and on notice to
Unitholders, up to a maximum rate of 0.15%. The Management Fee is subject to an annual minimum
fee of €90,000 per annum per sub-fund and on notice to Unitholders, up to a maximum rate of €
135,000. The Manager is further entitled to receive the one-off onboarding fee of €75,000 upon
the initial subscription of Units.

The Manager earned fees of $33,273 for the financial period ended 28 February 2025. Manager fees
payable as at 28 February 2025, amounted to $2,884.

The Sub-Fund pays all of its own operating expenses (excluding fees and expenses covered by the
Management Fee) which may be incurred by the Sub-Fund, including, but not limited to, the
following expenses: (i) ongoing legal fees following the launch of the Sub-Fund, including fees
and expenses arising in respect of legal or administrative proceedings; (ii) the cost of
preparing, printing, publishing, translating and distributing (in such languages as may be
necessary) prospectuses, supplements, annual reports, financial statements, notices and other
documents or information to current and prospective Unitholders; (iii) the costs and expenses of
obtaining and / or maintaining authorisations, registrations and permissions to distribute with
the regulatory authorities in any jurisdiction (iv) all expenses arising in respect of the
termination or liquidation; (v) investment expenses such as commissions and brokerage fees
(including fees related to negotiation of commissions and brokerage fees); (vi) interest on
margin accounts and other indebtedness; (vii) taxes, including without limitation, withholding,
net income, capital gains, franchise, valued added, stamp and transfer taxes, along with any
interest and penalties thereon or other additions to such taxes, (viii) share class specific
hedging fees.
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For the financial period from date of authorisation 2 May 2024 to 28 February 2025

5. Manager and Other Agreements (continued)

Administratorand Trustee fee

Brown Brothers Harriman Fund Administration Services (lreland) Limited (the ““Administrator””)
serves as the Trust"s administrator, fund accountant and transfer agent. The Trustee of the Trust
is Brown Brothers Harriman Trustee Services (lreland) Limited. In accordance with and subject to
the Trust Deed, the Trustee provides safe keeping for all of the assets of the Trust (including
any assets held through a wholly owned subsidiary) which are held under the control of the
Trustee in the Trustee®s custodial network. The Trustee is also responsible for monitoring the
Trust"s cash flows, ensuring that all payments made by or on behalf of investors upon the
subscription of Units of the Sub-Fund have been received. The Trustee is also responsible for the
safe-keeping of the assets of the Trust which includes (a) holding in custody all financial
instruments that can be registered in a financial instrument account opened in the Trustee®s
books and all financial instruments that can be physically delivered to the Trustee; and (b) for
other assets, verifying the ownership of such assets and the maintenance of a record accordingly
(the ~”Safekeeping Function””) and for other oversight duties. The Trustee may delegate to third
parties the safe-keeping of the assets of the Trust subject to the conditions laid down in the
AIFMD and, in particular, the Trustee shall satisfy itself that (a) registration of financial
instruments held in custody is performed in such manner as is usual market practice in the market
in question either in the name of the Trustee, or that of its sub-custodian or nominee or in the
name of the Trust, as may in the circumstances be necessary or required; (b) the financial
instruments so registered may not be assigned, transferred, exchanged or delivered without the
prior authorisation of the Trustee or its sub-custodian or their respective nominees; and (c) the
financial instruments so registered shall be segregated from assets belonging to the Trustee, or
to the sub-custodian or their respective nominees. The Manager will ensure that investors are
informed of any arrangement made by the Trustee to contractually discharge its liability before
they subscribe for Units. The Manager will also ensure that Unitholders are informed of any
changes with respect to the Trustee®s liability without delay.
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5. Manager and Other Agreements (continued)

Administratorand Trustee fee (continued)

The Administrator and Trustee shall be entitled to receive fees calculated as a percentage of the
Net Asset Value of the Sub-Fund for the provision of administration and trustee services
respectively. The fees of the Administrator and the Trustee shall be discharged out of the assets
of the Sub-Fund. The fees and the expenses of the Administrator and Trustee are payable monthly
in arrears. In respect of its provision of administration services to the Sub-Fund, the
Administrator shall be entitled to receive a fee of 0.05% per annum of the Net Asset Value of the
Sub-Fund. Those fees include, but are not limited to, an accounting services fee, which is 0.02%
per annum, subject to the certain annual minimum amount of €22,500, a Sub-Fund administration
fee, which is 0.02% per annum, subject to the certain annual minimum amount of €22,500, and a
transfer agency fee, which is 0.01% per annum, subject to the certain annual minimum amount of
$30,000. In respect of its provision of trustee services to the Sub-Fund, the Trustee shall be
entitled to receive a fee of 0.004% per annum of the Net Asset Value of the Sub-Fund. Any
increase in the fees of the Trustee and Administrator above the fee disclosed shall be subject to
the approval of Unitholders. In addition to the fees calculated as a percentage of the Net Asset
Value of the Sub-Fund, the Administrator and the Trustee shall be entitled to receive safekeeping
fees as a percentage of the value of the assets held by it for safekeeping, including, but not
limited to, those assets posted to the Sub-Fund as collateral, as well as transaction fees per
transaction. The Administrator and the Trustee shall also be entitled to receive any additional
fees from the Sub-Fund to cover any reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses.

Agent Company fee

The Manager has appointed Deutsche Securities Inc. as the agent company (the "Agent Company') in
Japan in relation to the Sub-Fund pursuant to an Agent Company Agreement. Pursuant to the Agent
Company Agreement, the Agent Company will perform the following functions:

(a) distribute to the financial instruments firms or financial institutions, etc. who are
members of JSDA ("'JSDA Members'™) and may be selling Units in Japan such prospectuses relating
to the Units as may from time to time be required to be prepared in accordance with the
provisions of the applicable laws and regulations of Japan;
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5. Manager and Other Agreements (continued)

Agent Company fee (continued)
(b) make public in Japan the Net Asset Value per Unit;

(c) distribute to the financial instruments firms or financial institutions, etc. who are
JSDA Members and may be selling Units in Japan such financial statements and other documents
relating to the Sub-Fund as may be from time to time required to be prepared in accordance
with the provisions of the applicable laws and regulations of Japan and/or the JSDA Rules;

(d) report to the JSDA and notify the financial instruments firms or financial institutions,
etc. who are JSDA Members and may be selling Units in Japan in the event that the Units cease
to conform to the Standards for Selection of Foreign Investment Fund Securities as adopted
from time to time by the JSDA;

(e) provide management reports (unyo houkokusyo) as set forth in Article 14, Paragraph 1 of
the Law Concerning Investment Trusts and Investment Corporations of Japan in an electronic
form on behalf of the Manager on the website of the Agent Company; and

() carry out on behalf of the Manager any and all acts and things incidental to or
reasonably necessary for the Agent Company®s performance of any of the above enumerated
functions.

The Agent Company Agreement was concluded for an unlimited duration. Subject to the appointment
of a successor agent company for the Manager in Japan insofar as such appointment is required in
Japan, the Agent Company Agreement may be terminated upon three months® notice in writing by
either the Manager or the Agent Company.

In consideration of its duties and functions, including deliveries of the prospectus, management
reports and other documents to the Distributor, publication of the Net Asset Value per Unit in
Japan and other analogous and ancillary duties, the Agent Company shall be paid an annual agent
company fee (the ““Agent Company Fee””) by the Sub-Fund equal to 0.01% per annum of the Net Asset
Value of the Sub-Fund. The Agent Company Fee shall be accrued daily and be payable monthly in
arrears. The Agent Company shall also be entitled to receive out-of-pocket expenses incurred in
providing services in respect of the Sub-Fund.
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For the financial period from date of authorisation 2 May 2024 to 28 February 2025

5. Manager and Other Agreements (continued)

Audit fee
Auditors®remuneration charged by the Trust®s audit firm excluding VAT for the financial period
was as follows:

Financial period

ended
28 February 2025
- Audit of statutory accounts $ 30,680

There were no fees payable to the auditors in respect of non-audit services during the financial
period ended 28 February 2025. PricewaterhouseCoopers has been appointed as auditor to the Trust
for the current financial period.

Other expenses

Any additional fees in respect of a sub-fund will be set out in the relevant prospectus
supplement. Charges and expenses that are not specifically attributable to a particular sub-fund
may be allocated pro rata among the sub-fund based on their respective net assets or any other
reasonable basis given the nature of the charges at the discretion of the Directors of the
Manager .

Prepaid expenses as at 28 February 2025, amounted to $287,736, consist of prepaid organisational
expenses and legal expense. The organisational expenses incurred in connection with the initial
offering of Units in respect of the Sub-Fund, including, but not limited to, one-off fees to the
Manager in the amount of €75,000 are not expected to exceed EUR 400,000. The fees outlined above
will be amortised over a period of 3 years.

The Swap Counterparty is entitled under the Total Return Swap to a fee, payable out of the assets

of the Sub-Fund of 0.6% of the notional value of the Total Return Swap per annum. Any increase in
the Index Fee above the fee disclosed shall be subject to the approval of Unitholders.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the financial period from date of authorisation 2 May 2024 to 28 February 2025

6. Transaction Costs

Transaction costs on the purchase and sale of investments are included in the purchase and sale
of such investment.

Transaction costs for the financial period ended 28 February 2025 were as follows:

Ortu Curva
Trust Il Sector
Focused Global

Equity Fund
$ 1,194

Only transaction costs which are separately identifiable are disclosed.

7. Foreign Exchange Translations

The exchange rates against US Dollar as at 28 February 2025 were as follows:

Australian Dollar 1.60810
British Pound 0.79419
Euro 0.96154
Japanese Yen 150.69500

8. Financial Instruments and Associated Risks

The Trust"s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including price
risk, interest rate risk and foreign currency risk), liquidity risk, credit risk and valuation
risk. The nature and extent of the financial instruments outstanding at the Statement of Assets
and Liabilities date and the risk management policies employed by the Trust are discussed below.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will change as a result of
exposure to market price, interest rate and foreign currency risks.
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8. Financial Instruments and Associated Risks (continued)

- Market Price Risk

Market price risk arises mainly from uncertainty about future prices of financial instruments
held. It represents the potential loss the Trust might suffer through holding market positions in
the face of their price movements. A sub-fund®s exposure to market price risk is driven by its
investment objective. The Trust"s market price risk is managed by the Manager on a daily basis.
The Manager considers the asset allocation of the portfolio in order to spread the risk
associated with particular market sectors whilst continuing to follow the Sub-Fund®s investment
objective.

- Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. The majority of the Trust®s assets and liabilities are non-
interest bearing. As a result the sub-fund is not subject to a significant amount of interest
rate risk. Generally, excess cash or cash equivalents are invested at short-term market interest
rates.

- Foreign Currency Risk

The value of the assets of the Trust will be affected by fluctuations in the value of the
currencies in which the Sub-Fund®s portfolio securities are quoted or denominated relative to the
Functional Currency. Currency exchange rates may fluctuate significantly over short periods of
time causing, together with other factors, the Sub-Fund"s net asset value to fluctuate.

The Manager may use foreign exchange hedging transactions to hedge the foreign currency exposure
of a hedged class not denominated in the base currency of the Sub-Fund in order to mitigate risk
for hedged classes. Details of outstanding forward foreign currency contracts dealt for currency
hedging purposes can be found in the Schedule of Investments.
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8. Financial Instruments and Associated Risks (continued)

Liquidity Risk

Not all securities or investments held by the Sub-Fund will be listed or rated or actively
traded, and consequently liquidity may be low. Moreover, the accumulation and disposal of
holdings in some investments may be time consuming or subject to adverse market conditions and
may need to be conducted at unfavourable prices. There is also no guarantee that market making
arrangements will be in place to make a market and quote a price for all instruments. In the
absence of an active secondary market, the Sub-Fund may need to hold the instruments for an
undetermined period of time. The Manager seeks to control the liquidity risk of the investment
portfolio by a series of internal management measures in order to meet Unitholders™ redemption
requests; however it sizeable redemption requests are received, the Sub-Fund may need to
liquidate its investments at a substantial discount in order to satisfy such requests and the
Sub-Fund may suffer losses in trading such instruments.

Derivative transactions, and in particular over-the counter derivative transactions, may not
benefit from a liquid secondary market. As such, there is no guarantee that positions may be
entered into or unwound at any time or at a price close to the latest book value of such
derivative transaction.

Custody Risks

There are risks involved in dealing with custodians or brokers. It is expected that securities
and other assets deposited as margin with custodians or brokers will be clearly identified as
being assets of the Sub-Fund. However, it may not always be possible to achieve this segregation
and there may be practical or time problems associated with enforcing the Sub-Fund®s right to its
assets, held as margin, in the case of an insolvency of any such party.

The assets of the Sub-Fund may be held by custodians and brokers who become insolvent. If the

assets are not segregated, the Sub-Fund would rank as unsecured creditors and the assets may not
be fully recoverable.
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8. Financial Instruments and Associated Risks (continued)

Custody Risks (continued)

In addition, the Manager may invest for the account of the Sub-Fund, directly or indirectly, in
markets where custodial and/or settlement systems are not fully developed. The assets of the Sub-
Fund which are traded in such markets and which have been entrusted to sub-custodians, in
circumstances where the use of such sub-custodians is necessary, may be exposed to certain risks.
Such risks include, but are not limited to, a non-true delivery versus payment settlement, a
physical market, and as a consequence the circulation of forged securities, poor information in
regards to corporate actions, registration process that impacts the availability of the
securities, lack of appropriate legal/fiscal infrastructure and lack of compensation/risk with a
central depository.

The Manager manages risk by monitoring the credit quality and financial position of the
Depositary and such risk is further managed by the Depositary monitoring the credit quality and
financial positions of sub-custodian appointments.

Settlement Risk

Market practices in relation to the settlement of securities and other transactions and custody
of assets may increase risk. The clearing, settlement and registration systems available to
effect trades may result in delays and other material difficulties in relation to the settlement
of trades and registration of transfers. There is also the possibility that a customer or
counterparty to a transaction might fail to perform its contractual commitment. Any problems
regarding settlement may affect the Net Asset Value and the liquidity of the Sub-Fund.

Risk relating to unsettled transactions is considered small due to the short settlement period

involved and the high credit quality of the broker used. The Fund monitors the credit rating and
financial positions of the broker used to further mitigate this risk.
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8. Financial Instruments and Associated Risks (continued)

Credit and Counterparty Risk

The Sub-Fund®s security transactions are solely concentrated with one counterparty, Deutsche Bank
AG. Substantially all cash balances are placed in custody with Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. The
extent of the Sub-Fund"s exposure to credit and counterparty risks in respect to these financial
assets approximates their carrying value as recorded in the Sub-Fund®s Statement of Net Assets.

The Sub-Fund attempts to reduce its exposure to counterparty credit risk related to OTC
derivatives and structured products by entering into a master netting agreement with its
counterparty, whenever possible. The Sub-Fund entered into an ISDA Master Agreement with Deutsche
Bank AG which incorporates a right of set-off across derivative and structured products covered
by the Master Agreement.

The Sub-Fund views its maximum risk of loss from counterparty credit risk related to fully-funded
OTC derivatives is generally the aggregate unrealized appreciation and outstanding counterparty
payments in excess of any collateral pledged by the counterparty to the Sub-Fund. The Sub-Fund®s
maximum risk of loss from counterparty credit risk related to unfunded OTC derivatives is
generally the aggregate unrealized appreciation.

Valuation Risk

Due to the nature of certain investments of the Sub-Fund, the counterparty may be the only party
who can provide a valuation of such investments. As such, it may not always be possible to obtain
a valuation from an independent third party. If such a situation arises, the Sub-Fund will seek
to ensure that any transactions in respect of such investments are executed on normal commercial
terms, negotiated at arm"s length.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Trust follows the authoritative guidance for fair value measurements. The guidance
establishes a framework for measuring fair value and a hierarchy for inputs used in measuring
fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and minimizes the use of unobservable
inputs by requiring that the most observable inputs be used when available. The guidance
establishes three tiers of inputs that may be used to measure fair value. The inputs or
methodology used for valuing securities are not necessarily an indication of the risk associated
with investing in those securities.
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8. Financial Instruments and Associated Risks (continued)

Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued)

Various inputs are used in determining the value of the Trust®s investments. These inputs are
summarized in the three broad levels listed below:

Level 1 - unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical securities.

Level 2 - inputs, other than quoted prices included in Level 1, that are observable either
directly or indirectly. These inputs may include:

quoted prices for similar assets in active markets,
quoted prices for identical or similar assets in markets that are not active,
inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset, or

O O o o

inputs derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation
or other means.

Level 3 - significant unobservable inputs (including the Trust®s own assumptions in determining
the fair value of investments).

The following is a summary of the fair value hierarchy of the financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value as of 28 February 2025:

Ortu Curva Trust 1l Sector Focused Global Equity Fund

28 February 2025 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Investments Assets

- Total return swap $ $12,491,680 $ $12,491,680
Liabilities

- Forward foreign currency contracts $ $ (46,500) $ $  (46,500)
Total $ $12,445,180 $ $12,445,180

There were no transfers between levels as at 28 February 2025.
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9. Derivative Instruments

The Sub-Fund may utilize certain financial derivative instruments for the purposes of share class
hedging. The Manager intends to hedge the foreign currency exposure of the JPY and AUD Unit
Classes in order that investors in such classes receive returns substantially in line with that
which would be achieved in the base currency. The financial instruments used to implement such
strategies will be assets/liabilities of the Sub-Fund as a whole. However, such transactions will be
clearly attributable to the relevant JPY and AUD Unit Class, as applicable, and the gains / losses on and
the costs of the relevant financial instruments will accrue solely to the relevant JPY or AUD Unit Class,
as applicable. There can be no assurance that the Manager will be able to hedge, or be successful in
hedging, the currency exposure, inwhole or in part, of the JPY and AUD Unit Classes, and the JPY and AUD
Unit Classes might be affected by exchange rate fluctuations.

a) A forward foreign currency contract is a commitment to purchase or sell a foreign currency at a future
date at a negotiated forward rate. All commitments are marked-to-market on each valuation date at the
applicable foreign exchange rate and any resulting unrealised gain or loss is recorded on such date.
Unrealised appreciation or depreciation is included in the Statement of Operations.

The Manager may hedge the foreign currency exposure of a Class not denominated in the base
currency of the Sub-Fund in order that investors in that Class receive a return in the currency
in which that Class is denominated and not materially affected by changes between the value of the
Class currency and the base currency of the Sub-Fund. In this context, foreign exchange hedging will not
be used for speculative purposes. Where the designation “Hedged” does not appear in the name of a Class
denominated in a currency other than the base currency of the Sub-Fund it is not a hedged class and the
Manager will not seek to mitigate the risk of adverse exchange rate fluctuations between the base
currency of the Sub-Fund and the currency in which that Class is denominated.

The Manager uses forward foreign currency contracts for hedging purposes only. This strategy may
limit investors in hedged share classes from benefiting if the Class currency falls against the
base currency of the Sub-Fund and/or the currency/currencies inwhich the assets of the Sub-Fund are
denominated. Although hedging strategies may not necessarily be used in relation to each Class, the
financial instruments used to implement such strategies shall be assets/liabilities of the Sub-Fund as a
whole. However, the gains/losses and the costs of the relevant financial instruments used in hedging
activitieswill accrue solely to the relevant hedged class.
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9. Derivative Instruments (continued)

b) In order to achieve its investment objective, the Sub-Fund will generally invest all of the proceeds
from the issue of Units (after deducting therefrom the costs and expenses in connection with the
establishment of the Sub-Fund and the offering of Units and a reserve for other charges and expenses
payable out of the assets of the Sub-Fund) in one or more total return swaps (to be traded with the Swap
Counterparty pursuant to a swap agreement (the "Swap Agreement™). Further details in relation to the
Swap Agreement and the Swap Counterparty are set out in the prospectus. The Total Return Swap will be a
fully-funded USD denominated swap (ie some or all of the proceeds from the issue of Units will be paid
to the Swap Counterparty on commencement of the Total Return Swap) and will provide the Sub-Fund with
exposure to the Index (as defined below). The Sub-Fund*s exposure to the Total Return Swap will be (i)
increased in the event that the Sub-Fund receives net subscriptions and (i) decreased in the event
that the Sub-Fund receives net redemptions, on a particular Subscription Day/Redemption Day. The
performance of the Sub-Fund will be determined by the performance of the Index. Inaddition to
entering into the Total Return Swap, the Sub-Fund may hold cash pending investment, the return of
monies to investors or to al low the Sub-Fund to meet certain ongoing charges and expenses which may
arise in the course of operations of the Sub-Fund.

Details on counterparty credit risk are disclosed in detail in the credit risk section of note 8.
The below tables disclose the disaggregated fair value of derivatives instruments as at 28

February 2025 and the related Statement of Operations effects for the financial period then
ended.
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9. Derivative Instruments (continued)

Ortu Curva Trust 1l Sector Focused Global Equity Fund

Fair Values of Derivative Instruments on the Statements of Assets and Liabilities as at 28
February 2025

Foreign
Asset Derivatives - Investments in financial Market Price Exchange
derivative instruments Risk Risk” Total
- Total return swap contract at market value $ 12,491,680 $ $ 12,491,680
$ 12,491,680 $ $ 12,491,680
Liability Derivatives - Investments in financial
derivative instruments
- Unrealised depreciation on forward foreign
currency contracts $ $ (46,500) $ (46,500)
$ $ (46,500) $ (46,500)

*For forward foreign currency contracts, the gross value is presented in the Statement of Assets and
Liabilities in the Investments in financial derivative instruments line item.

Effect of Derivative Instruments on the Statement of Operations for the period ended 28 February 2025

Foreign
Market Price Exchange
Net Realised Gain/(Loss) Risk Risk™ Total
- Forward foreign currency contracts $ $ (7,450) $ (7,450)
- Total return swap contract 13,464 13,464
$ 13,464 $ (7,450) $ 6,014
Net Change in Unrealised Appreciation/
(Depreciation)
- Forward foreign currency contracts $ $ (46,500) $ (46,500)
- Total return swap contract 28,537 28,537

$ 28,537 $ (46,500) $ (17,963)

**The amounts in this column only represent the realised gain/(loss) and unrealised appreciation/
(depreciation) on forward foreign currency contracts.
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9. Derivative Instruments (continued)

The table below reflects a breakdown of the average notional amount of forward foreign currency
contracts for the financial period ended 28 February 2025:

Ortu Curva Trust 11 Sector Focused Global Equity Fund

USD Unit Class $
JPY Hedged Unit Class 4,523,666
AUD Hedged Unit Class 824,586

The table below reflects a breakdown of the average notional amount of total return swap contracts, based
on market value, for the financial period ended 28 February 2025:

Sub-Fund
Ortu Curva Trust 1l Sector Focused Global Equity Fund $ 12,578,930

The Sub-Fund may enter into an International Swaps and Derivative Association, Inc. Master Agreement
(“ ISDA Master Agreement”) with its counterparties in order to mitigate counterparty risk. The 1SDA
Master Agreement is typically negotiated by the Sub-Fund and its counterparties, containing the bi-
lateral terms and conditions for all subsequent derivative transactions. The ISDA Master Agreement
allows for the netting of all amounts owed to or due from a counterparty into a single net payment.

At 28 February 2025 the Sub-Fund had entered into the following derivative assets and liabilities by
counterparty net of amounts available for offset under the 1SDA Master Agreement and net of any

collateral received by the Sub-Fund:

Ortu Curva Trust 11 Sector Focused Global Equity Fund

Derivative
Assets Derivatives Non-cash Cash Net Amount
Subject Available for Collateral Collateral of Derivative
Counterparty to Netting Offset Received Received Assets
Deutsche Bank AG $ 28,537 $ (28,537) $ $ $
Derivative
Liabilities Derivatives Non-cash Cash Net Amount
Subject Available for Collateral Collateral of Derivative
Counterparty to Netting Offset Pledged Pledged Liabilities

Deutsche Bank AG $ 46,500 $ (28,537) $ $ $ 17,963
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10. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash comprises options margin and current deposits with banks. Cash equivalents are short-term highly
liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of change in value and are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments
rather than for investment or other purposes. All current deposits at the period end are held with Brown
Brothers Harriman & Co. or with approved counterparties on overnight deposit or directly with a sub-
custodian.

The table below reflect a breakdown of the financial institutions holding current deposits balances as
at 28 February 2025:

Ortu Curva Trust 11
28 February 2025 Sector Focused Global
Equity Fund

BNP Paribas, Paris $ 28
Brown Brothers Harriman & Co. 1,201
Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank Ltd., London 12,076,652
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corp., Tokyo 256,915

$ 12,334,796

As at 28 February 2025 there are no bank overdrafts balances.
11. Distributions

As at 28 February 2025 there were no distributions for the Ortu Curva Trust 11 Sector Focused Global
Equity Fund. It is currently not intended to declare dividends in respect of any Unit Class of the Sub-
Fund. Any distributable profits will remain in the Sub-Fund"s assets and be reflected in the Net Asset
Value of the relevant Unit Class.

12. Related Parties

The Directors who are employees of the Manager are not entitled to any remuneration for their services,
as disclosed in note 5, for the life of the Trust. The Independent Non-Executive Directors and the Non-
Executive Director are remunerated by the Manager and none of the Directors charge fees to the Trust or
the Fund.

The Related Parties to the Trust are: the Manager, the Directors of the Manager and the Depositary as

defined in the Directory. Fees paid to related parties are on an arms length basis and are disclosed in
note 5.
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13. Statement of Net Assets for the Financial Period

Ortu Curva Trust 11 Sector Focused Global Equity Fund 28 February 2025
Net Assets Shares NAV
at class level outstanding per share
USD Unit Class? $ 7,921,213 807,017 $ 9.82
JPY Hedged Unit Class? $ 4,110,618 659,771 $ 6.23
AUD Hedged Unit Class! $ 720,356 119,158 $ 6.05

1 Launched on 11 June 2024.

14._ Contingent Liabilities

The Directors of the Manager are not aware of any material contingent liabilities as at 28 February 2025.

15. Segregated Liability

The Trust is structured as an umbrella fund with segregated liability between its sub-funds. As a matter
of Irish law, the assets of one sub-fund are not avai lable to meet the liabilities of another. However,
the Trust is still asingle legal entity that may operate or have assets held on its behalf. While the
provisions of the Unit Trust Act 2014 provide for segregated liability between sub-funds, these
provisions have yet to be tested in foreign courts, inparticular, insatisfying local creditors*®
claims. Accordingly, it is not free from doubt that the assets of any sub-fund of the Trust may not be
exposed to the liabilities of other sub-funds of the Trust.
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16. Significant Events During the Financial period

The following share classes were launched during the financial period:

Sub-Fund Share Class Launch Date
Ortu Curva Trust 11 Sector Focused Global Equity Fund USD Unit Class 11 June 2024
Ortu Curva Trust 11 Sector Focused Global Equity Fund JPY Hedged Unit Class 11 June 2024
Ortu Curva Trust 11 Sector Focused Global Equity Fund AUD Hedged Unit Class 11 June 2024

Tom Berrigan resigned as Executive Director effective 31 March 2024 and was appointed as Non-Executive
Director effective 20 May 2024 fol lowing Central Bank of Ireland approval.

Brenda Buckley resigned as Independent Non-Executive Director of 1Q EQ Fund Management (lreland)
Limited effective 31 January 2025.

There were no other significant events during the financial period.

17. Subsequent Events

There were no other significant events affecting the Trust after the financial period ended 28 February
2025

18. Approval of Financial Statements

The financial statements were approved by the Directors of the Manager on 12 August 2025.

135/221



EDINETOOOO

OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)

Ortu Curva Trust 1l Sector Focused Global Equity Fund

OOo00000000000000000
Annual Report and Audited
Financial Statements 2025

ORTU CURVA TRUST Il SECTOR FOCUSED GLOBAL EQUITY FUND
SCHEDULE OF INVESTMENTS
As of 28 February 2025

FINANCIAL DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS - 97.6%

OTC Total return swap

Unrealised
Payment Reference  Termination Notional Appreciation/
Counterparty Made Index Date % of NAV Amount _ (Depreciation) Contract Value
Deutsche Bank AG 0.60% Deutsche Bank Croci 12 June 2034 0.22%  $ 196,577 $ 28,537 $ 12,491,680
Sectors 111 USD Total $ 28,537 % 12,491,680
Return Index
(DBGLS3UT)
Hedge share class forward foreign currency contracts
Unrealised
Amount Amount Maturity Appreciation/
Counterparty Purchased Sold Date % of NAV  (Depreciation)
Deutsche Bank AG JPY 618,727,529 USD 4,153,881 31 March 2025 ©.2n% $ (34,986)
Deutsche Bank AG AUD 1,156,591 USD 730,895 31 March 2025 (0.09)% (11,514)
$ (46,500)

Total Financial Derivative Instruments

$ 12,445,180

Value

TOTAL DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS - 97.6%
(Cost $12,463,143)

Other Assets and Cash in Excess of Liabilities - 2.4%

TOTAL NET ASSETS - 100.0%

Percentages are stated as a percent of net assets.

Financial derivative instruments

Date of launch - 11 June 2024

$ 12,445,180

307,007

$ 12,752,187

% of Total
Assets

97.6%

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2025
11,744,299 1,700,692
224,751 32,546
11,519,548 1,668,146
775,662
551,249
118,485
9.510 1,377
895
9.356 884
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3,655,000 2,011 1.25 212
2,924,000
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1Q EQ
1989
148223 2014 22 AIFM AlIF
AIFM AIFM
AIFM
AIFM
AIFMD
AIFMD
AIFMD

AIFM
AIFMD

AIFMD

AIFMD
AIFM
90
76

2025 ICAV

AlIF UCITS
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328

23 103

2025
30 169.66
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2024 12 31 2023 12 31
38,402,547 6,515,376 32,874,657 5,577,514
(29,637,425) (5,028,286) (23,213,594) (3,938,418)
(127,463) (21,625) 97,282 16,505
8,637,659 1,465,465 9,758,345 1,655,601
805,657 136,688 1,086,064 184,262
(928,522) (157,533) (6,732) (1,142)
8,514,794 1,444,620 10,837,677 1,838,720
(966, 315) (163,945) (1,343,783) (227,986)
7,548,479 1,280,675 9,493,894 1,610,734

)
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2024 12 31
2024 12 31 2023 12 31
14 344,500 58,448 393,772 66,807
344,500 58,448 393,772 66,807
1
8 21,297,584 3,613,348 27,405,653 4,649,643
9 9,052,998 1,535,932 7,436,721 1,261,714
30,350,582 5,149,280 34,842,374 5,911,357
! 16 (6,803,540) (1,154,289) (3.893,083) (660,500)
23,547,042 3,994,991 30,949,291 5,250,857
23,891,542 4,053,439 31,343,063 5,317,664
10 3,655,000 620,107 3,655,000 620,107
10 6,207,624 1,053,185 6,207,624 1,053,185
11 2,072 352 2,072 352
14,026,846 2,379,795 21,478,367 3,644,020
23,891,542 4,053,439 31,343,063 5,317,664
13 28 ( )
2025 28
C ) C )
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12

12

12

12

12

31
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31

31

31
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3,655,000 6,207,624 11,984,473 2,072 21,849,169
- - 9,493,894 - 9,493,894
3,655,000 6,207,624 21,478,367 2,072 31,343,063
3,655,000 6,207,624 21,478,367 2,072 31,343,063
- ~ (15,000,000) ~ (15,000,000)

- - 7,548,479 ~ 7,548,479
3,655,000 6,207,624 14,026,846 2,072 23,891,542
620,107 1,053,185 2,033,286 352 3,706,930
1,610,734 1,610,734

620,107 1,053,185 3,644,020 352 5,317,664
620,107 1,053,185 3,644,020 352 5,317,664
(2,544,900) (2,544,900)

1,280,675 1,280,675

620,107 1,053,185 2,379,795 352 4,053,439
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2023 12 31 2024 12 31

2024 12 31 2023 12 31

(

7,548,479 1,280,675 9,493,894 1,610,734
122,865 20,845 (1,079,332) (183,119)
49,272 8,359 41,816 7,005
323,041 54,807 (53,687) (9,109)
(127,463) (21,625) 97,282 16,505
966,315 163,945 1,354,710 229,840
8,882,509 1,507,006 9,854,683 1,671,946
5,831,506 989,373 (9,423,814) (1,598,844)
3,187,020 540,710 (2,469,757) (419,019)
17,901,035 3,037,090 (2,038,888) (345,918)
(1,252,838) (212,556) (981, 240) (166,477)
16,648,197 2,824,533 (3,020,128) (512,395)
(31,920) (5.416) (6,732) (1,142)
- - 362,500 61,502
(31,920) (5.416) 355,768 60,360
(15,000, 000) (2,544,900) - -
(15,000,000) (2,544,900) - -
7,436,721 1,261,714 10,101,081 1,713,749
1,616,277 274,218 (2,664,360) (452,035)
9,052,998 1,535,932 7,436,721 1,261,714
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( ECL )

IFRS

ECL

ECL ECL
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2024 2023
12 31 12 31

38,402,547 32,874,657

2024 2023
12 31 12 31

25,804,523 24,187,524

2,578,899 186,682
1,561,320 1,637,283
7,097,547 6,087,078
75,001 107,000
700,814 669,090
469,108 -
12,906 -
39,830 -
62,600 -

38,402,547 32,874,657

2024 2023
12 31 12 31
1,135,970 1,221,640
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28,305 27,900
49,272 41,816
47,000 41,100
1,260,547 1,332,456
2024 2023
12 31 12 31
4 11,126,958 9,286,616
18,461,195 13,885,162
49,272 41,816
29,637,425 23,213,594
2024 2023
12 31 12 31
92 72
2024 2023
12 31 12 31
10,235,597 8,531,087
891,361 755,529
11,126,958 9,286,616
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2024
12 31

2023
12 31

805,657

1,086,001
63

805,657

1,086,064

7.5 (2023 7.5 )
(2023 1,086,001 )

2024
12 31

2024

2023
12 31

896,602
31,920

6,732

928,522

6,732

7.5 (2023 7.5 )
(2023 )

2024
12 31

2024

2023
12 31

1,064,349
(98,034)

1,354,710
(10,927)

966,315

1,343,783
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b)
2024 2023
12 31 12 31
8,514,794 10,837,677
12.5 (2023 12.5 ) 1,064,349 1,354,710
(98,034) (10,927)
C ) 966,315 1,343,783
©)
2024
8.
2024 2023
12 31 12 31
1
17 13,049,908 20,757,322
7,467,538 5,926,188
740,924 672,829
276,563 -
39,214 49,314
21,574,147 27,405,653
@
(b) IFRS ECL 127,463 (2023 20,000 )
9.
2024 2023
12 31 12 31
9,052,998 7,436,721
9,052,998 7,436,721

153/221



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

10.
a)
2024 2023
12 31 12 31
1.25 10,000,000 (2023 10,000,000 ) 12,500,000 12,500,000
1.25 2,924,000 (2023 2,924,000 ) 3,655,000 3,655,000
3,655,000 3,655,000
b)
2024 2023
12 31 12 31
15 (2023 ) 15,000,000 -
11.
2024 2023
12 31 12 31
2,072 2,072
2001 1998 25 (3) 2003
1.25 2,072
12.
2019 11 29
6,207,624 6,207,624
13.
472,497 (2023 388,155 )

2024 (2023 )
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14.
IT
2022 12 31 62,948 62,948
397,500 397,500
2023 12 31 460,448 460,448
2024 12 31 460,448 460,448
2022 12 31 24,860 24,860
41,816 41,816
2023 12 31 66,676 66,676
49,272 49,272
2024 12 31 115,948 115,948
2024 12 31 344,500 344,500
2023 12 31 393,772 393,772
15.
2022 12 31 91,000
35,000
(126,000)
2023 12 31 -
2024 12 31 _
2020 28 SpA( )
RSCT ( )
(A2 1,000 B2 400,000 ) 0.50 A2 1,000
500 1.00 B2 61,000 61,000
2020 12 PS (
) (
)

(028 12 31 )
5,000
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2021 B2 20,000
2021 12 30
5,000 )
2022 2022 12 B2
2023 B2 35,000
16.
1
(a
17.
a)
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2021 12
5,500 (
20,000 10,000

2023
126,000

2024
12 31

Ooooooooooooooooooad
A2

500

B2

2023
12 31

18 3,841,465
2,275,542

31,529

931,567

429,565
1,993,410
1,010,953

13,472

445,683

7,080,103

3,893,083

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

9,052,998
13,971,861
7,506,752

7,436,721
20,757,322
5,975,503

30,531,611

34,169,546
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30.5 (2023 12 34.2 )
10 EQ
2024 12 31 AlB 0 (2023 12 0.341 ) HSBC
9.052 (2023 12 7.096 ) AIB s&p BBB
(2023 12 BBB) HSBC A+(2023 12 A+)
10 EQ
2024 2023
12 31 12 31
7,467,538 5,926,188
39,214 49,314
13,049,908 20,757,322
20,556,660 26,732,824
2024 12 31 2023 12 31
1,186,168 - 2,061,431 -
30 2,051,475 - 1,555,427 -
4,067,539 - 2,316,678 -
328,047 - 60,842 -
28,576 127,463 1,125 20,000
7,661,805 127,463 5,995,503 20,000
( ECL )
ECL
IFRS
127,463 (2023 12 20,000
)
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30
2024 12 31 7.5 (2023 12 6.0 )
b)
9,052,998 (2023 7,436,721 )
©)
2024 12 31
2024 12 31
9,052,998 - 9,052,998
13,049,908 - 13,049,908
- (3,841,465) (3,841,465)
22,102,906 (3.841,465) 18,261,441
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18.

10 EQ SCSp

10 EQ
R.C.S.
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2024 12 31

B201044
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7,436,721 - 7,436,721
20,757,322 - 20,757,322
28,194,043 - 28,194,043

10 EQ 1Q EQ
2023 12 31
Sarl
Sarl 412F L-2086
Sarl 1Q EQ SCSp
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10 EQ
Sarl

2024 12 31

1Q EQ

1Q EQ

10 EQ (
Sarl

10 EQ

1.3

2024

19.

20.

2025 28

(IRE)

3,841,465

(10M)

(UK)

Sarl
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2023
12 31

5,853,214
4,407,157
1,539,134
1,250,403

1,916,591
18,223,924
496,228
120,579

13,049,908

20,757,322

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

3,259,671
263,829
272,147

45,803
15

94,738
334,827

3,841,465

429,565

2024
12 31

2023
12 31

1,135,970
28,305

1,221,640
27,900

1,164,275

1,249,540
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12 EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the year ended 31 December 2024

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended

Noles 31 December 2024 31 December 2023

Revanug 2 38,402,547 32,874 857

Administrative expenses 3 (20,637 425) (23.213,504)
Expected credit loss impairment charges {127.463) 97 282
Operating Profit 8,637,659 9,758,345
Inferasi receivable and similar ncome 5 B05.857 1,086,084

Interest payable and similar charges -] (828.522) (6.732)
Profit bafore tax 3 B514,704 10,837 677
Inecome tax (charge Voredit 7 (966,215) {1,343,783)
Profit after tax € 7.548.479 € 9,493,894

The Company had ne recagnised gains or lesses in the financial year other than the profi for the financial year and all

resulis derive from continuing operations.

The accompanying notes on pages 13 1o 28 form an integral part of the financial statemants.

161/221
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12 EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As gt 31 December 2004

As at Asat
Hotes 31 December 2024 3 December 2023

Hon-current Assets
Property and egquipment 14 344 500 393772
Total mon-currend assels 344 500 393,772
Current assels
Dablors

Amounts falling due within one year 8 21,297 584 27 405,653
Cash at bank and in hand g 9.052998 7436729
Tolal current a55es 30.350.582 34,842 374
Creditors
Arnounts falling due within one year 16 (6,803.540) {2,893,083)
Het current assels 23547042 30,949,291
Net assels € 23,891,542 € 31,343,063
Capital and resemnves
Share capital 10 3,655,000 3,655,000
Cagpdtal contribution following menger by absorpion 10 6.207.624 6.207 624
Other undenominaied capital 1 2072 2072
Retained eamings 14,026,848 21,478 387
Equity € 23,891,542 € 31,343,063

The accompanying nétes on pages 13 1o 28 farm an intagral part of the financial statements.

©n behalf of the Board
26 Aprd 2025

Qaagiec ful 4
Phul O'Shea % Paul Giblin T
Director Director

Page 10 of 28
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12 EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year 31 Decamber 2024

Capitat Oithar
Ehare Cagital Reserve Earnings Capital Totsd

A2 armaary JO23 i J685000 o B20rEM o RLE B e L4 1840108
Total COMprede s ive incoee sfer LK 104 e year ! . B490 854 . B4R
A2 31 Do ambar 2023 € L5000 € B2OTAM € DIATRMT € 2AT2 € ME3
A2 | dansary 2024 [ 1EAE000 € BITEM € TIATEM? € 2077 € MLM0EY
[Dridensy Seclaied - - (15,000,008 - [VE.000,008)
Tofal compredwes hve income after bax lor the year . . T4ABATY . T4 AT
A2 31 Dacambar 2074 « JeIN000 € RAOTAI € 4GRS € F2 L TR S Y

Page 11 of 28

163/221



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

|G EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW
Far the parod from 31 December 2023 to 31 December 2024

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
M December 2024 M December 2023

Cash flows {used in)iirom operating activities
Prodit fior the penod € 7548479 € F493.5%
Adjustments for
Met Snance costs 122,865 (1.079.332)
Depreciation of fixed assel 40272 41918
Forign exchangs 323,041 (53.667)
Expected credit loss impairment charge / (reversal) {127 .463) 97,282
Corporation lax §86.315 1354710
Operating cash flow before working capital changes §,882,509 9,854,683
Working capdal changes
(IncraasayDacrease in trade and other recenables 5831506 (3423514)
(Decrease}increass in trade and other payables 3167020 (2469, T5T)
et cash Mows from/jused) In operations 17,501,035 [2.078 888}
Carporation 1as paid (1.252.838) (581, 240)
Mot cash Nows from/jused) in operating activitios 16,648,197 1.020.1
Cash flows from investing activites
Intenest pasd {31.920) (6.732)
Purchase of other imesimend - 352 500
Mot cash Naws fram investing activities {31,920) 355,768
Cash flows from financing activites
Dradends pad {15,000,000)
Mot cash fows from financing activities (15,000,000)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the peried T AT 10,104,081
Met mcreasef{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,616,277 (2,664, 360)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period L 9,052,958 € 1,436,721

Page 12 of 28
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12 EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

NOTES TO THE FINAMNCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Summary of significant accounting policies
General information

The Company is a limited company which is tax resident, incorporated and operating in Republic of Ireland. The
address of its registered office is 78 Sir John Rogerson's Quay, Dublin 2, Dubdin, Ireland,

New standards and interpretations adopted during the year

These have been no pew standasds introduced n the current pencd that have had a significant impact an the
Campany

Matarial accolnting policies

The following accounting policses have been applied consistently in dealing wath iterms which are considered material
in refabion to the Company's financial staterments.

Statement of compliance and basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
["IFRS") and Irish statute comprising the Companies Act 2014, Accordingly, the Directors of the Company (the
"Dwectors') have prepared these financial staternents using accounting policies based on standards and
interpretations applicable for the financial statements to be prepaned for the penod ended 31 December 2024,

The financial statements have been prepared under the histoncal cost corvention

Going concerm

The Directors have prepared thesa financial statements on a going concern basis which assumes that the Company
will continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future having adequate funds to meset obligations as they fall
due. The Directors are satished that this i appropriate.

Estimates and judgements

In preparing these financial staterments, management has made judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of the Company's accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilites, income and
expensas. Actual results may differ frorn these estimates.

Functional currency

Functicnal and preseniational curmency

Thesa financial statements are presanted in euro, which is the Company's functional curmency.

Transaclons and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated nto euro at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the
transaction. Non-monetary assets measured at histonic exchange rates are not subsequently retranslated. Monetary
assets and Eabilties denominated in foreign currencies at the Statement of Financial Position dafe are translated to
ewra at the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arisang on translation are
recognised in the Income Satement

Interest income and expense

interest income on cash held on deposit is recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest methed. Expenses
are recognised on an accrual's basis.

Page 13 of 28
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12 EG Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

HOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
1.  Summary of significant accounting peolicies {continued)
Fed¢ and commission income

Fees and commessions are recognised on an accruals basis gross of any withholding tax suffered and net of rebates
when the service has been provided,

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are measured at cost less accurnulated depreciaton and any accumulated imparment in
value. The initial cost of property and equipment comprises its purchase price and other costs directly attributabbe in
bringing the asset to its working condiion and lecation for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after the property and equipment have been put mlo operation, Such as repairs and
maintenance, are normally charged to profit or less in the perniod in which the costs are incurred. In situations where it
can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits
expected to be obtained from the use of an itern of property and equipment beyond its criginally assessed standard
of performance, the expenditure is capitalized as additional costs of property and equipment.

Depreciation is charged so as to allocate the cost of assets less their residual values over their estimated useful lives
using the straight-line method. The useful lives of property and equipment (in years) are as folows:

Computer equipment - 3years
Information Technology Software - 10 years

The applicable useful He and depreciation methods are reviewed periodically to ensure that the period and method of
depreciation are consistent with the expected pattem of economic benefits frem iterns of property and equiprment,

When assets are retired or dsposed of, the cost and the related accumulated depreciation and any impairment i
value are remaved fram the accounts and any resuling gain of loss & credited or charged to current cperations.

At the end of each reporting period, the Company assesses whather there is indication that assets held may be
impaired. If impairment is identified, the asset's recoverable amount is calculated. If recoverable amount s below the
carrying amount, an imparment 1655 is recognsed as an expense and depreciabion adjusted for future periods.

Financial instruments

Mon-derivative financial assets

Classification of financial assets

The Company classifies its financial assets into those to be measured at amortised cost and those to be measured at
fair value (either through other comprehensive income, or through profit or loss). The classification depends on the
Company's business model for managing financial assets and the contractual terms of the financial assets’ cash
flows.

Financial assels af amortised cosf

Financial assets are measwed at amortised cost where they:
»  have conbiaclual terms that gve rse 1o cash flows on spetified dates, that représent salaly payments of
prncipal and interest on the pandipal amount outstanding,
» are held within a business model whose objective is achieved by holding to coBect contractual cash flows.

Both of thess tests have to be met in arder to aceount for an instrument to be recagnised at amortised cost, Finangial
assets held at amorised cost include loans, cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables including

balances due from brokers and clients. The Company initially recognises loans and trade and other receivables on
the date that they are originated.

Page 14 of 28
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12 EG Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

HOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
1. Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)
Finangial instruments [continued)

The Company derecognises a financial asset held at amodised cost when the contractual rights to the cash flows
from the asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction i which
substantially all the risks and rewards of cwnership of the financial asset are transfemed or it neither transfers nor
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and does not retain control over the transferred asset. Any
interest in such transferred financial assets that is created or retained by the Company is recognised as a separate
asset of kabilty,

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right 1o control the use of an identifed asset for a pericd of time in
exchange for considerabon.

Where the Company is the lessee, leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a comesponding lease liability
at the date at which the leased assst is available for use by the Company. The right-of-use asset is initially measured
at cost, which comprises the following:

«  the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for,
o lease payments made at of before the commencement date
o plus any intial direct costs incurred
& plus any estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the
underlying asset or the site
o less any lease incentives

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated on a straight-line basis using the lease term. The lease liability is
initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at commencemeant date, discounted
using the interest rate implicd in the lease.

Lease payments are allacated between the liabiity and finance cost. The finance cost is charged o profit or loss over
the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each
period. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful [#e and the lease term on a
straight-line basis

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and demand deposits, and highly liquid investments that are convertible into
cash with an insignificant risk of changes in value with criginal maturities of less than three months.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as eguity.

Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ardinary shares ane recognised in equity in the penod inwhich they are approved by the Company's

shareholders of, in the case of interim diedend, when it has been approved by the Board of Directors. Divedends.
declared after the Statement of Financial Position date are disclosed in the notes.
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12 EG Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

NOTES TO THE FINAMCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Im pairment
Mon-dervative financial assets
Financial assels measwed al amortized cost
The Company recognises expected credt losses (ECLS) for financml assets measured at amortised cost
This approach requires an entity to recegnise a loss allewance for expected credit losses on all debt type financial
assets that are not measured at fair value through profit or kess, this includes lease receivables, contract assets and
lsan commitrnent and financial guarantee contracts to which the impairment reguirements of IFRS O apply.
The ECL approach requires an expected credit loss allewance to be established upon initial recognition of an asset
reflacting the bevel of lasses anticpated after having regard to the Company's histoncal credit loss expenence and its
expectation of reasonable and supportable future economic conditions that incorparate mare forward-looking
inforrmatson.

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. The maximum perniod considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual pencd over which the Company is exposed to credit risk

All impairrnent losses are reviewed at least at each reporting date, Losses are recognised in profit or loss and
reflected in the bad debt provision against trade receivables, When an event cecurs after the impairment is
recognised which causes the amount of impairment koss to decrease, the decrease in impairment koss is reversed
through profit or loss. This is further enhanced by specific provisions where this is deemed appropnate by

management

Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Shart-tefin employes benefit abligatsns are expensed as the related senvice B provided, A liability is recognised for
the armount expected 1o be paid f the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a
result of past service provided by the employee, and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Dafined contribubion plans

Ohbligations for contributions to defined contnbution plans are expensed as the related service is provided and

recognised as refirement benefit costs in proft or loss, Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the extent
that a cagh refund or a reduction in future payments is available. There are no definged benelit penson arrangemants
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12 EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {continued)

2. Revenue

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
31 December 2024 31 Decomber 2023

Analysis of urnover |s a5 follows:

Turnover analysed by class of business
Fee and commission income € 36402547 € X2, 874857

Disaggregation of revenue from confracts with customens

In the following tables, revenue from contracts with cuslomens is deaggregated by primary gecgraphical marked, main
business unils and timing of revenue recognition;

Figures in €

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended

31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Analysis of turnover is a5 follows:
Turnover analysed by class of business
Fee and commission income € 38,402 547 € I2BT4 65T

Year Ended 31 Year Ended 31
December 2024 December 2023

Primary Geographical Market
Republic of Irefand 25804523 24187524
Cayman 2,573,899 186,682
France 1,561,320 1637282
Italy 7.007 547 6.087.078
Porugal 75.001 107,000
Luxembourg 700,814 668,090
Jersey 469,108 &
South Africa 12,906 .
UK 38830 -
United Siates 62,600 -

€ 38,402,547 € 32874657

The Company’s matenal revenues are amad iy the Republic of reland, Substantially all the Company’s assels under
management are managed in ireland

For the Year Ended For thie Year Endad
Moles 3 December 2024 3 December 2023

Directors’ remunigration
- Salary, bonus, and Direclors’ fees 1135970 1.221 540
- Confribution to pension schemes 28,305 27 900
Depreciation of fined asset 49,272 41816
Auditors’ remuneration A7 000 41,100
€ 1,260,547 1,332 456
Page 17 of 28
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12 EQ Furnd Management (Ireland) Limited

MOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [continued)

3. Profit before taxation

Adrmnistration expenses can be broken down as follows:

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended

HNotes 31 December 2024 M December 2023

Personnel expenses 4 11,126,958 9,285,616
General and administrative espenses 18,461,105 13885162
Depreciabion of fwed asset 40272 41,816

4. Personnel expenses

€ 29,637 425

€ 23.213,594

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Awerage number of persons employed by the Company 92 72
For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
3 December 2024 31 December 2023
Tolal remuneration amounied fo:
Wages, salanes, bonus and other benefils 10,235,597 8.531,087
Social weltare costs 881,381 785529
€ 11,126,958 € 9,286,616
5. Interast receivable and similar income
For the Year Ended For the Year Ended

M December 2024

3 December 2023

Inerest income under the effective interest method on
- Interes! receivable on group intercompany balances 805657 1,086,001
- Financial assels at amonised cost - 63

€ BO5.657 € 1,086,064

Amaunts due from inbra group companies are unsecured, have no fived date of repayment and are repayable on
demand. Interest is charged an group balances with a single countarparty In excess of an average balance of €1min
the year, at a rate of 7.5% {2023 7.5%) Interest receivable on group balances in 2024 totaled €B0S 657 (2023
recehed €1, 088 001)
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12 EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

MOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [continued)

6. Interest payable and similar charges

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
31 Decamiser 2024 3 December 2023

Interes! payable on group intercompany balances 806,602 -
Interes! expense & bank charges 31,920 6,732
€ 928,552 € 6.732

Amaunts due to intra group companies are unsecured, have no fived date of repayment and are repayable on
demand. Inferest is charged on group balances with a single countarparty in excess of an average balance of Etmin
the year, at a rate of 7.5% (2023 7.5%). Interest payable on group balances in 2024 tetaled 596,602 (2023 €Mil).

T. Income taxes

a) Amounts recognised in profit or loss

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
3 December 2024 31 December 2023

Corporale g,

Charge for thi year 1,064 340 1,354,710
Adjustment in resped of previous peniods (08.034) (10.027
Total tax chargeicredit) Tor the period L 066,315 L1 1,343, 7E3

b} Reconciliation of effective tax rate

The tax charge difers from the standard rate of tax, based on the standard rate of tax in reland, The differences are
explained as follows:
For the Year For the Year
Ended Ended
3 December 2024 31 December 2023

Profit on ordinary activities before tax 8,514,754 10,837 677
Corporation tax rate of 12.5% (2023: 12.5%) € 1,064,348 € 1,354,710
Effects of:

Adjustment in respect of previous periods (98,024) (10,927)
Total Corporation Tax charge/{credit) for the period £ 966,315 € 1,343,783

c) Factors that may affect future tax charges

There is ro material impact of Finance Act 2024 on the fulure lax charge of the business.
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8. Trade and other receivables

Amounts faiing dud within one year
Amounts due from Group underakings
Fees Receivable
Pregayments
Currént lax receivable
Cther receivable
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10 EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

As at As at
Hote 31 December 2024 31 December 2023
17 13,040,008 20,787 322
7467538 5,026,188
T40. 524 GT2829
275,563 -
39214 489314

L 24,574,147 L 2T ADSES5

(a} Amounts due from groupiparant undertakings are unsecured, have no fixed date of repayment and are repayable

on dermand.

(B) The amounts shown above are net of a provision of €127 463 (2023 €20,000) relating ta the ECLS for trade

récedvables in bne with IFRS 9

8. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash on Demand

Asal Asat
31 December 2024 3 December 2023
L1 8,052 988 LY T A6 T21
€ 9,052,998 € 7436721

Cash and cash equivalents depositad with credit insttutions in freland are regulated by the Central Bank of Inefand.

10, Called up share capital

a} Share capital and share premium

Authorised

10,000,000 (2023 10,000,000 ordinary shares of €1.25 each

Issued and fully pand

2,924 000 (2023 2,924,000) ordinary shares of €1.25 each

Called up share capital presented as equity

As at As at
31 December 2024 M December 2023

£ 12,500,000 € 12,500,000

3,635,000 3.655.000

€ 3,855,000 € 3,655,000

The heiders of ordinary voting shares are enbitied to receive dividends and are entitled to one vate per share at
meelings of the Company and are enlitied 1o their share of the Company’s residual assets,
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10 EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

MOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [continued)

bj Dividends and distributions
As at As at
31 Decamber 2024 31 Dacember 2023

Dividends pald €15m (2023: €Nil) € 15,000,000 € -

Mo further dnedends have been proposed or paid by directors in respect of the penod

11. Other undencminated capital

As at As at
31 Decembaer 2024 31 Decombser 2023

Other undenominaled capital € 2,072 € 2072

Fallowing on from the comversion of the Financial Statements 1o euro in 2001 the authorised and the allotted share
capital of the Company were redenominated into eurs in 2003, in accordance with section 25(3) of the Economsc and
Monetary Union Act, 1888, The redenominated nominal par value of each share was redenominated as €1.25 each
reducing the issued share capital of the Company by €2 072, This has been iranslened 1o a fund 10 be knowh as the
Capfal Conversion Reserve Fund

12, Capltal Contribution following merger by absorption
Davy Asset Management Limitad was merged by absorption with the Company on the 29 Movember 2018, An
amaunt of €6 207 624 was recorded as a capital contribution, refiecting the net assets of Davy Asset Management
Limited. The capital contribution reserve of €5, 207 624 is non-distributable.

13, Retirement benaefits

The Company operates a defined contnbution scheme which also covers the majority of empéoyees and Execulive
Diractors.

The total pension charge of the Company scheme for the penod amounted to €472,497 (2023 €368,155)

2 Directors paid into the scheme in 2024 (2023 2}
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12 EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
14. Froperty, Plant and Equipment

IT Software Total
Cost
A 31 Decembar 2022 62948 62048
Additions 397500 397500
Disposals = A
Al 3 December 2023 € 460448 £ AG0,448
Additions = M
Disposal 3 z
At M December 2024 € 460448 € AGD.448
Accumulated Amortisation
Al 31 Decambed 2022 24 880 24 8B0
Charge for the perniod 41816 41816
AL December 2023 66,676 66,678
Charge for the perod 49272 49272
At 31 December 2024 € 115948 € 115,948
Het Book Value
Al 3 December 2074 € 344500 € 344,500
At 3 December 2023 L1 393,772 € 393,772
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10 EQ Furnd Management (Ireland) Limited

MOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [continued)

15. Fimancial assets at amortised cost

Total
Cost
Al 31 December 2022 € 91,000
Purchases 35,000
Sales {126,000}

A3 December 2023 €
Purchases .
Sales

Al 31 December 2024 L

On 28 April 2020, the Carmpany and Pdlarstone ltaly Sph (Pillarstone”) entered inlo a non-discretionary advigary
services agreament with respect 1o a new investment fund, RSCT Fund (the “Fund™}. To meet the requirements of
the fund rules, as the Management Company and Alternative Investment Fund Manager, the Company subscribed
to specific classes of units (1,000 A2 unils and 400,000 B2 units) within the Fund. The 1,000 A2 units with a nominal
value of €0.50 are fully paid up and recognised at their nominal value of €500 and 1,000 of the B2 units with a
nominal value of €1.00 are fully paid up to date and recognised at their nominal value of €51,000.

With regard fo this invesiment, the Company entered info an oplicn agreement, on 12 May 2020, which granted PS5
Imvestment Plattorm Ireland Limited (a Pillarstone affiliale) a call option to acguire all, and no fewer than all, of the
Company’s units in the Fund subject to specific criteria being met. Per the agreement, the units in the Fund are not
transferrable by the Company before the expiry of the fund term (31 December 2028), other than in the event of and
upon the option baing exercisad, In which case tha Company are entitlad to repaymaent of thair investment in the
units plus an addtional payment of €5,000 per share class.

In September 2021, an additional €20,000 was drewn down in the B2 units. In December 2021, Pillarstone exercised
thaeir call option redating to the antirety of the A2 share dass. On 30 December 2021, the Company received €5.500
for this (€300 relating to the inital investmant and €5,000 relating to an addRional payment).

In March 2022 and December 2022, an addiional €20,000 and €10,000 respectively was dravwn down in the B2 units.
In March 2023, an adddional €35 000 was drawn down in the B2 units. Al the end of March 2023, Pillarstone

resmbursed €126 000 from their Investment Advisery fee in the form of a back stop to enable them 1o take ownership
of inese B2 units. Consequently, the Company no lenger has any economic interast in these units.

16, Trade and other payables

AS al As al
Note 31 December 2024 3 December 2023
Amounts falling due within one year

Amounts cue to Group undertakings 18 3841465 420565
Accrued expenses 2275542 1,993 410
Current tax payable - 1.010.953
Walue Added Tax 31,928 13,472
Other creditors 031567 445683

€ 7,080,103 € 3,893,083

a) Amounts due 1o groupdparent undertakings ane unsecured have no foed date of repayment and ane repayable
on demand.
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12 EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

MOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [continued)

17. Risk Management

The Company assumes a vanety of ngks in its ordinary business activities. The nsks which have been identified by
the Senior Management Team within the Comgpany can be broadly classified under the following material risk

categories.
«  Creditnsk
«  Market rigk
= Liquidity risk
+  DOperational risk

This nate explaing the Company's exposure to these financial sk, how they could affect the Company's fulure
financial performance, and how the Company measures and manages these risks,

a) Credf risk
As at As at
M December 2024 31 December 2023
Cash and cash equivalent 9,052,998 TA36T21
Amounts cue from Group undertakings 13,971,861 20,757,322
Other deblors 7,506,752 5,975,503

€ 30,531,611 i 34,160,546

This 15 the: risk that & customer oF coumterparty will be unable of urilling 1o mesl a commitment that it has entered
inte and that the Company is unable to recover the full amount that it is cwed, Credit risk is managed and confroded
on the basis of established processes and procedures.

The Company is exposed to credd risk in respect of its cash balances and trade recervables amounting to €30.5m
{Dec 2023 €34 2m). The Company manages s cradi risk in respect of bank deposits by placing funds with financial
institutions regulated by the Central Bank of Ireland. The exposure to credit risk in relation o the cash balances is
mondored on @ daily basis and i relation to the trade recenvables on a manthly basis by the Company and by KI-EQ
Group Finance

As at the 31 December 2024, the credit exposure to AIB was €0m (Dec 2023 €0 341m} and HSBC was €8.052m
(Dec 2023 €7 058m). The SEP credit rating for AIB Group ple is BBE (Dec 2023 BEB) and MSBC 1 A+ (Dec 2023
A

Credit rigk exposure arising frem client fees is imfted to & large extent as the Company has a right under mast client
contracts to debit fees directly from client accounts as and when they fall due. In addition, aged debtors lstings are
reviewsed on & regular basis by the Company and the 1Q-EQ Group Finance team, with procedures in place to ensure
thay are followed Up in 3 Bimely manner.

The carrying vaiue of cartain financial agsets representing the maximum axposure to credit sk at the reporting date
15 et out balow;
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12 EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [cantinuad)
17. Risk Management {continued)
a) Credit risk (continued)
An analysis of trace and other receivables at the reporing date by relevant category of counterparty is set out below

As at As at
31 December 2024 31 December 2023

Institutional brokers and clients 7467528 5926 188
Other deblors 39214 49314
Due from parent underaking 13,049,208 20,757 322

€ 20,556,660 € 26,732,824

An aged analysis of trade and other receivables at the reporting date s set out below,

a5 af December 20024 &5 at December 2023
Hel recesable Impairmient provsion Met recenable Impasrment provision
Mot past due of impaired 1,186,158 . 2,061,431
Past due 0 - 30 days 2,051,475 - 1555427
Past due 1 - & months 4087538 . 2218578
Past due § months - 1 year 28,047 . 0842 .
More than 1 year 23576 127 463 1.12% 20,000
T.661.805 12T AB3 5,905,503 20,000

The Company recognises expected loss afowances for expected credt losses (TECLS”) for Ainancial assets ¢l
amodtised cost Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are always meagured at an amount equal
to the lifetime ECLs,

Expacied credi lss assessrent for indhidual customers

Im e with the adoption of IFRS 2 al financial assets measured at amortised cost were reviewed includng amounts
due from clients, cash and cash equivalents and broker marging,

Trade recervables that are neither past due nor impaired redate mainly to managemend fees that are recerved one
mandh in arears.

Cutstanding recelvables are considered separately. Exposures are calcutated with reference 1o the amount of the
underlying customer account. Expacted loss amounts are based on ageing and histonc expenence and expectad
future outcomes in collecting cutstanding receivables, which differs by business unit. The total amount of indivicwally
impaired assets under the “expected loss™ approach at the period-end was €127 453 (Dec 2023 €20,000).

Trade recenwvalbles are managed and controlled using well defined policies and procedures, which are managed and
reviewed, within the Company and Group Finance depariment Deblors are managed appropriately and wiite downs

to the management accounts are recognised when and if required. Trade receivables aged ower 30 days are closely
manitored, Quistanding deblors amount to €7.5m as at 31 December 2024 (Dec 2023 €6.0m),
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12 EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

NOTES TG THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [continuad)
17. Risk Management {continued)
b)  Liguidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company may be unable to meet the payment obigations associated with its financial
lrabilities that are setiled by delnvenng cash and other Tnancial assets

The objectrve of liquidity risk management is to ensure that, at all times, the Comgpany halds sufficient funds to meet
its contracted and contingent commitments to its custormers and counterparties.

The Company has access to cash deposits of €9,052 598 [2023: €7.438.721)
c)  Market msk

Markat risk embodies the potential for both losses and gains and includes currancy risk, price risk and interest rate
risk. The objective of market risk managemant is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable

pasamelers

Foreign cumancy sk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that movements in foreign currency exchange rates will have a negative impact on
the Company's turnower and profit or loss.

Thene are procedunes in place o ensure forsign cumency exposunts are managed and monioned,

The Company mitigates its limited foreign currency exchange rate risk by ensuring, insofar as pessible, that both
financial assets and labilties are denominated in matching currencies.

Price sk

Price misk is the risk that the valug of a financal instrumaent will fluctuate a5 a result of changes in market prces,
whether caused by factors E-PEI:IEIC o an individual investrnent, its issuer or olher factons SH'ECHI'IQ allinstrurnents
traded in the market

A 31 Decembaer 2024 the Company did not hold any investmants axposad to price fisk.

Inferast rade nsk

The Company 15 subject 1o exposure 1o interast rate risk on Cash and cash equivalents and amounts due from panenl
companies due to fluctuations in the prevailing levels of marke! interest rates

The interest rate nsk profile of the Company®s interest bearing assels and liabilities as at the staterment of financial

position date was as follows.
Fiigd Rals inberes] Fized Rate inberast Total
ASgels Liabdties
Imterest rate risk profile at 31 Docomber 2024
Cash and cash equivalents B9.052 958 = 9,052,938
Amounts dus from Group undertakings 13040908 - 13,049,008
Amounts dud 1o Group undetakings - (3,841 465) {3,841,485)

€ 22102906 € (3B41,465) € 18,261,441

Flced Rale lrlergsl Fined Roale inbergsl

Assels Liatdlbes Tetul
Imterest rate risk profile al 31 December 2023
Cash and cash eguivalents TAZET21 - TAIETH
Amounts due from Group undertakings 20,757 322 - 20787322
i 28,194,043 L3 - L] 28,194,043

Oher financial assets of the Company not included in the above table are not inferest bearing and therefore not
Subpect 1o intenest rate nsk
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12 EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited

HOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [continued)

17. Risk Management {continued)

d) Operational rigk

Crperationsl sk is deemed to be the nsk of direct of indirect lass ansing rom a wide vanely of causes assocaled
with the Company's processes, personnel, lechnology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than crecd
and market risks such as those anising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of
corporate behaviow, Operational risks anse from all the Company's operations

The objective of the Company is to manage cperational fisk $0 as to balance the avcidance of financial losses and
damage to the Company's reputation with cverall cost effectiveness. The prdmary responsibility for the development
and implementation of controls to address operational risk is assigned to senior management

This responsibility is supported by the developmeant of owerall Company standards for the management of operaticnal
risk in the following areas:

Requirement for appropnate segregation of duties, including the independent authorisation of fransactions.
Requirement for the reconciliation and monitating of transactions

Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements

Decumentation of controls and procedures

Requirement for the reporting of operational losses and proposed remedial action
Development of contingency plans

Training and professional development

+  Ethical and business standards

«  Risk mitigation, including insurance where this is effective

+  Business eontinuity and disaster planning

v Information securty inceding cyber related nsk

«  Conduct and sutability nsk

Compliance with these standards is supported by a programme of engeoing review by senior management, supporied
by the Company's Risk and Compliance teams, 1Q-EQ Group Intemnal Audit and independent contral functions within
the [3-EQ Group

18. Ownership and related party transactions

The Company is a subsidiary of Green Bay Acquisitons Limited, a company incorporated in lreland

1 EQ Fund SCS5p was considered collectively by the Board (o be the ultimate controlling party at 31 December 2024
and 31 December 2023,

Within the 12-EQ Group consolidated financia! statements are prepared for Saphilux San the results of which include
thie Company. This is the largest and smallest group the Company's resulls are consolidated in. Saphilux Sadl has its
regestered office al 412F, route d Esch, L-2086 Luxembourg R.C.5, Luxembourg B201044. Saphilux Sarl is controlled
by 1Q EQ Fund 3C5p.

At 31 December 2024, the Company was due an amount of €1.3,045 908 comprised of

As at As at
31 December 2024 31 December 2023
Green Bay Acquisitions Limited 5853214 1.916,591
13 EC Cerporate Services (Holdings) Limited 4,407 157 18,223,924
2 EQ Corporate Services (IRE) Limited 1.539,134 496,228
SAPHILUX Sarl 1.250,403 120,579
€ 13,049,908 € 20,757,322

Page 27 of 28

179/221



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

12 EQ Fund Management (Ireland) Limited
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS [continuad)
18, Ownership and related party transaction (continued)
Ab 31 December 2024, the Company owed an amount of €3.841 485 comprised of

Asal As at
31 December 2024 31 December 2023

10 EQ Group Kanagement (I0M Lid) 3.2598M 04,738
IQ EQ Administration Sendces (UK) 263,829 J3a27
12 EQ Fund Sendces (Ireland) Limited 27247 -
SAPHILUX Sarl 45,803 -
10 EC MaxComply Limited 15 -

€ 1,841,465 € 429,565

During the period an amount of €1 3m was settled by Saphilux Sarl on behalf of the Company in relation to post
acquisiion costs which have been me! by the group 1o noermalise he underlying company position

The Company defines its key managemant personnel as the members of the Board and executive managament.
All key management parsonnel are mambers of the Board and compensation for the period comprised the following:

For the Year Ended For the Year Ended
Notes 3 December 2024 M December 2023
Directors’ remuneration

- Salary, bonus, and Directors' feas 1,135 870 1.221,640
- Contribution to pension schemes 28,305 27.900
€ 1164275 € 1,249,540

During the period, the Company granted Nil share options (2024; Mil) to key management personnel as part of the
2024 annual performance refaled awands.

19, Subsequent events

There are no subsedquent events after the reporting date wentified that provided evidence of conddions that existed at
the reporting date (adjusting events after the reporting date) and that were indicative of conditions that arese after the
reporting date (non-adjusting events after the reporting date).

20. Approval of financial statements

The Directars approved the Financial Statements on 28 April 2025,

Page 26 of 28

180/221



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

181/221



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

182/221



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2025

183/221



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

184/221



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Brown Brothers Harriman Trustee Services

Ireland Limited

2025

1,500,000

1,722

29

Brown Brothers Harriman Fund Administration Services Ireland Limited
2025 700,000 137
1995 29
2024 12 43,796
2025 875 5,000

185/221




EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

186/221



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

1989
1972
1972
1990
1989 1989 1989
1989
(A 1989
1893 1972
2011
2009 13 2009
65 2010 2010 43 2010 2010 44
1989 1990
2013 48
€)) 2019
2011 61 2013
21 2013 16 2013
2023 15 2023 606
2015 29 2015 760
(1

(a

187/221



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

(b
1990
2005 2020
1994 2020
2014 2014 24
2015 2020
¢
G
(a ( (
(b
(B
(a
(b
(c
(C
(1 Unit Trusts
2 Common Contractual Funds
(€] Investment Limited Partnership
4 Investment Companies
(a
(b
(@
¢ 1997
(¢

G

188/221



4

(A

a

Q@

@3

(a

¢

4

1.1

1.2

1.3

189/221

EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

e e
~N o g b

.10

10
1.1
10
144
10
40
2.3 10
25
80
2.3 10
35
2.4 2.5 2.3
40
20
1988
10
2.3 2.7 2.8
20
23 2.4 25 2.7 28 2.9

35

190/221



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2.11 2.3 2.4 2.5 2.7 2.8 2.9
20

2.12

100

30

3.1 20

3.2 30
3.3 10

3.4

3.5

4.1

20
4.2 4.1 35

5.1

5.2

191/221



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

( 10
) ) )

5.3 5.1 5.2

2.3 2.11
3.1 3.2 5.1 5.2 5.4 5.5 5.6
5.5 5.6

5.5 2.3 2.12
3.1 3.2 4.1 4.2

o o1 o1

.10

192/221



6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

193/221

EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

1988



20
6.6

6.7

6.8

6.9

6.3

194/221

EDINETOOOO

OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)

(

Ooooooooooooooooooad

6.1 ()



G

(a
(b

(c
«

(a

(c

«
(e

6.10

125,000

125,000

250,000,000
0.02

EDINETOOOO

OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

6.8

50
10,000,000

195/221

250,000,000

25



(6

(a

'

(c

(d

(e

(f

(9

(h

(b)(

196/221

EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

(
(
(
(a
) ( 2006 48
( 2006 49 20 (O
2004 39 2004 39
@
2006
49
(
(aa
(bb
(cc 2011 21
(
¢
(a

¢

197/221



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

(B
1994 2020

(

2014

300,000

2014

(a

198/221



(b
(c
(d
(e

(f

(9

(h
@i

(K
a

2014

QYOI

(

)

EDINETOOOO

OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)

)

100

2014

199/221

Ooooooooooooooooooad

(D



(A
(

(a

¢

(a
(b
(c
(d

(e
(f
€
(h
(i
(k
¢
(m

(n

2014

2014

(QIOIC I )

(c
24

Q)

©C6)

200/221

EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

(a
(b

@



(a

(b

(c

(aa

201/221

EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

(bb

2014



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

(a
(b 500,000

2014

2014

(A

¢

(C

(A
1997 739

2000

202/221



¢

25

(b

2000

203/221

EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

(a 25

41

12.5



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

37

204/221



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2025
28

1990

2024

2024

AlIF

UCITS

205/221



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

AIFMD 2003 41 EC 2009 65 EC EC No. 1060

2009 EU No. 1095 2010
2011

AIFMD EU No.231 2013

AIFMD 2013
.No.257
ATFMD

AIFM

206/221



2034

2034

75

1948

207/221

EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

14

75

25



EU

1Q EQ

50

208/221

EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

DBGLS3UT

1951 198



EU

2004 39 EC

MiFID

209/221

EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

UCITS



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

TCA 1997

2024

210/221



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2024

211/221



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

2025 28

2025 28

2025 28

12

212/221



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

guarantee

https://www.iaasa. ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8F-
a98202dc9c3as/Description_of _auditors_responsibilities_for_audit.pdf

2013

2025 12

213/221



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)
Ooooooooooooooooooad

Independent auditors® report to the unitholders of Ortu Curva Il Trust

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion, Ortu Curva Il Trust"s financial statements:
give a true and fair view of the Trust"s assets, liabilities and financial position as at 28 February
2025 and of its results and cash flows for the period from 2 May 2024 to 28 February 2025 (the
““period”?); and
have been properly prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Audited Financial
Statements, which comprise:

the Statement of Assets and Liabilities as at 28 February 2025;

the Statement of Operations for the period then ended;

the Statement of Changes in Net Assets for the period then ended;

the Schedule of Investments as at 28 February 2025; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the accounting policies.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (lreland) (““ISAs
(Ireland)””) and applicable law.

Our responsibilities under I1SAs (lreland) are further described in the Auditors® responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We remained independent of the Trust in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements in lreland, which includes 1AASA"s Ethical Standard, and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Trust's
ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date on which the
financial statements are authorised for issue.

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the manager®s use of the going concern
basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this conclusion is not a
guarantee as to the Trust"s ability to continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the manager with respect to going concern are described
in the relevant sections of this report.
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Reporting on other information

The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual Report and Audited Financial
Statements other than the financial statements and our auditors® report thereon. The manager is
responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other
information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in this report, any form of assurance thereon. In connection with our audit of the
financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify an apparent
material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude
whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material misstatement of the
other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report
based on these responsibilities.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the manager for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Manager®s Responsibilities set out on page 5, the manager is
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework
giving a true and fair view.

The manager is also responsible for such internal control as the manager determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the manager is responsible for assessing the Trust®s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the manager intends to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditors”® responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors® report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (lreland) will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these financial statements.

Our audit testing might include testing complete populations of certain transactions and balances,
possibly using data auditing techniques. However, it typically involves selecting a limited number of
items for testing, rather than testing complete populations. We will often seek to target particular
items for testing based on their size or risk characteristics. In other cases, we will use audit
sampling to enable us to draw a conclusion about the population from which the sample is selected.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on
the IAASA website at:

https://www. iaasa.ie/getmedia/b2389013-1cf6-458b-9b8f-
298202dc9c3a/Description of auditors responsibilities for audit.pdf.
This description forms part of our auditors® report.

215/221



EDINETOOOO
OO0O00OO00o0DO000DO000D00o0bDO000DOoOdnoo(esss30)

o o o o o
Use of this report

This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for the unitholders as a body in
accordance with the European Union (Alternative Investment Fund Managers) Regulations 2013 and for no
other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose
or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Dublin

12 August 2025
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR"S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
1Q EQ FUND MANAGEMENT (IRELAND) LIMITED

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion on the financial statements of 1Q EQ Fund Management (lreland) Limited (““the company””)
In our opinion the financial statements:

give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the company as at 31
December 2024 and of the profit for the financial year then ended; and

have been properly prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework and, in
particular, with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014.

The financial statements we have audited comprise:

the Statement of Comprehensive Income;

the Statement of Financial Position;

the Statement of Changes in Equity;

the Statement of Cash Flow; and

the related notes 1 to 20, including material accounting policy information as set out in note 1.

The relevant financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is the Companies Act
2014 and IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (lASB) and as
adopted by the European Union (““the relevant financial reporting framework””).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (lreland) (I1SAs (lreland))
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are described below in the““Auditor”s
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements””section of our report.

We are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the financial statements in lIreland, including the Ethical Standard issued by the Irish Auditing
and Accounting Supervisory Authority, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors® use of the going concern basis
of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the company"s ability to
continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are
authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described
in the relevant sections of this report.

Other information

The other information comprises the information included in the Directors® Report and Audited Financial
Statements, other than the financial statements and our auditor®s report thereon. The directors are
responsible for the other information contained within the Directors® Report and Audited Financial
Statements. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the
extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR"S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
1Q EQ FUND MANAGEMENT (IRELAND) LIMITED

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent
material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the Directors® Responsibilities Statement, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view and
otherwise comply with the Companies Act 2014, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company®s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the company or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor®s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor®s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (lreland) will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on
I1AASA™s website at: https://iaasa.ie/publications/description-of-the-auditors-responsibilities-for-the-
audit-of-the-financial-statements. This description forms part of our auditor"s report.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2014
Based solely on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, we report that:

We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purposes of
our audit.

In our opinion the accounting records of the company were sufficient to permit the financial
statements to be readily and properly audited.

The financial statements are in agreement with the accounting records.

In our opinion the information given in the directors® report is consistent with the financial
statements.

In our opinion, those parts of the directors® report specified for our review, which does not include
sustainability reporting when required by Part 28 of the Companies Act 2014, have been prepared in
accordance with the Companies Act 2014.
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1Q EQ Fund Management (lreland) Limited

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR®"S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF
1Q EQ FUND MANAGEMENT (IRELAND) LIMITED

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
Based on the knowledge and understanding of the company and its environment obtained in the course of the
audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the directors® report.

We have nothing to report in respect of the provisions in the Companies Act 2014 which require us to report
to you if, in our opinion, the disclosures of directors” remuneration and transactions specified by law are
not made.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company®"s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 391 of the
Companies Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company®s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor"s report and for no other purpose. To the
fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company
and the company®s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have
formed.

Jim Meegan

For and on behalf of Deloitte Ireland LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Audit Firm
Deloitte & Touche House, 29 arlsfort Terrace, Dublin 2

28 April 2025
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